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DOCUMENT INDEX 
 

DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

1  02/14/07 Application for Release of Mechanic’s 
Lien (Case No. CV07-0341) 

I JA0001-0006 

2  02/14/07 Declaration of John Iliescu in Support of 
Application for Release of Mechanic’s 
Lien 

I JA0007-0013 

3  05/03/07 Response to Application for Release of 
Mechanic’s Lien 

I JA0014-0106 

4  05/03/07 Transcript of Proceedings – Application 
for Release of Mechanic’s Lien held on 
May 3, 2007 [Transcript filed on June 29, 
2007] 

I JA0107-0166 

5  05/03/07 Order [Scheduling discovery on 
Application for Release of Mechanic’s 
Lien] 

I JA0167-0169 

6  05/04/07 Complaint To Foreclose Mechanic’s Lien 
and For Damages (Case CV07-01021) 

I JA0170-0175 

7  05/08/07 Original Verification of Complaint to 
Foreclose Mechanic’s Lien and for 
Damages 

I JA0176-0178 

8  05/11/07 Notice of Entry of Order I JA0179-0184 
9  07/30/07 Supplemental Response to Application 

for Release of Mechanic’s Lien 
I JA0185-0208 

10  08/03/07 Substitution of Counsel I JA209-0211 

11  08/13/07 Notice of Association of Counsel I JA0212-0215 

12  09/24/07 Stipulation to Consolidate Proceedings; 
Order Approving Stipulation 

I JA0216-0219 

13  09/27/07 Answer to Complaint to Foreclose 
Mechanic’s Lien and Third Party 
Complaint (Case No. CV07-01021) 

II JA0220-0253 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

14  03/07/08 Stipulation to Stay Proceedings Against 
Defendant Hale Lane and to Dismiss 
Claims Against Defendants Dennison, 
Howard and Snyder without Prejudice 

II JA0254-0256 

15  04/17/08 Motion [by Iliescus] for Partial Summary 
Judgment on Mark B. Steppan’s Claim 
for Foreclosure of Mechanic’s Lien 

II 
III 
IV 

JA0257-0445 
JA0446-0671 
JA0672-0708 

16  02/03/09 Opposition [by Steppan] to Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment and Cross-
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 

IV JA0709-0802 

17  03/31/09 Reply [by Iliescus] in Support of Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment and 
Opposition to [Steppan’s] Cross-Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment 

IV JA0803-0846 

18  06/22/09 Order [Granting Partial Summary 
Judgment to Steppan and Denying 
Iliescus’ Motion] 

IV JA0847-0850 

19  10/07/09 Answer [by Hale Lane et al.] to 
[Iliescus’] Third Party Complaint  

IV JA0851-0857 

20  08/18/11 Motion [filed by Iliescus] to Amend 
Third Party Complaint Against Defendant 
Hale Lane 

V JA0858-0910 

21  09/01/11 Order Granting Third-Party Defendant 
Hale Lane’s Motion for Summary 
Judgment Regarding Third-Party Claims 
by John Iliescu 

V JA0911-0920 

22  09/06/11 Opposition [filed by Third Party 
Defendant Hale Lane] to Motion to 
Amend Third-Party Complaint by John 
and Sonnia Iliescu 

V JA0921-0946 

23  09/22/11 Reply in Support of Motion to Amend 
Third Party Complaint 

V JA0947-0966 

24  10/19/11 Order Denying Motion to Amend Third 
Party Complaint Against Defendant Hale 
Lane  

V JA0967-0969 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

25  10/25/11 Order Granting Defendants Iliescus’ 
Motion to Dismiss 

V JA0970-0977 

26  11/08/11 Motion for Leave to file Motion for 
Reconsideration [filed by Steppan] 

V JA0978-1004 

27  11/22/11 Stipulation V JA1005-1007 
28  02/07/12 Order Certifying Intent to Grant Motion 

for Reconsideration  
V JA1008-1010 

29  02/17/12 Motion for Remand [filed by Steppan] 
(NV Sup. Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1011-1016 

30  03/01/12 Motion for Leave to File Motion for 
Reconsideration; or, Alternatively, 
Motion for Relief from Order Entered 
September 1, 2011 Granting Third-Party 
Defendant’s Motion for Summary 
Judgment 

V JA1017-1040 

31  06/07/12 Order Certifying Intent to Grant Motion 
for Reconsideration 

V JA1041-1044 

32  06/28/12 Motion [filed by Iliescus’] to Remand 
(NV Sup. Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1045-1059 

33  08/02/12 Order [Nevada Supreme Court] Granting 
Motions for Remand (NV Sup. Ct. Case 
60036) 

V JA1060-1062 

34  08/31/12 Status Report [filed by Steppan] (NV 
Sup. Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1063-1064 

35  09/04/12 Status Report [filed by Iliescu] (NV Sup. 
Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1065-1066 

36  09/27/12 Order [Granting Iliescus’ and Steppan’s 
Motions for Reconsideration and 
Revoking earlier Summary Judgment in 
favor of Hale Lane] 

V JA1067-1072 

37  11/09/12 Stipulation to Dismiss Appeal (NV Sup. 
Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1073-1079 

38  01/02/13 Order [Nevada Supreme Court] 
Dismissing Appeal and Remanding to the 
District Court 

V JA1080-1081 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

39  01/09/13 Stipulation and Order VI JA1082-1084 

40  02/14/13 Second Stipulation to Stay Proceedings 
Against Defendant Hale Lane and Order 
to Stay and to Dismiss Claims Against 
Defendants Dennison, Howard and 
Snyder Without Prejudice 

VI JA1085-1087 

41  04/09/13 Notice of Entry of [Stipulation and] Order 
[to Stay Claim against Hale Lane] 

VI JA1088-1091 

42  05/09/13 Order Granting [Steppan’s] Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment 

VI JA1092-1095 

43  07/19/13 Motion for Continuance and Motion to 
Extend Expert Disclosure Dates 

VI JA1096-1104 

44  07/19/13 Affidavit of C. Nicholas Pereos in 
Support of Motion for Continuance and 
Motion to Extend Expert Disclosure 
Dates 

VI JA1105-1107 

45  07/19/13 Affidavit of Gordon Cowan in Support of 
Motion for Continuance and Motion to 
Extend Expert Disclosure Dates 

VI JA1108-1110 

46  08/23/13 Order Granting Motion to Strike or Limit 
Jury Demand 

VI JA1111-1113 

47  09/09/13 Transcript of Proceedings of Hearing 
regarding Motion for Continuance and to 
Extend Expert Disclosures 

VI JA1114-1149 

48  09/18/13 Second Supplement to Case Conference 
Report 

VI JA1150-1152 

49  12/02/13 Defendant’s Trial Statement VI JA1153-1163 

50  12/04/13 Plaintiff’s Trial Statement VI JA1164-1200 

51   Selected Trial Exhibits [Listed by Exhibit 
Number] 
1 Notice and Claim of Lien recorded 

November 7, 2006 
2 Amended Notice and Claim of Lien 

recorded May 3, 2007 

VI 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

JA1201-1204 
 

JA1205-1209 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

3 Second Amended Notice and Claim 
of Lien recorded November 8, 2013 

6 Standard Form of Agreement (AIA 
B141) 

7 Addendum No. 1 to Design Contract 
8 Waiver of Conflict Letter, dated 

12/14/05 
9 Letter Proposal - Architectural Design 

Services, dated 10/25/05 
10 Memo from Sarah Class to Calvin 

Baty, dated 11/14/05 
11 Email memo from Sarah Class to 

Calvin Baty, dated 11/18/05 
12 Email memo from Sarah Class to 

Calvin Baty, dated 11/29/05 
13 Steppan Response to Owner Issues on 

AIA Contract, dated 12/20/05 
14 Architectural Design Services 

Agreement, dated 11/15/05 
15 Design Services Continuation Letter, 

dated 12/14/05 
16 Design Services Continuation Letter, 

dated 2/7/06 
17 Design Services Continuation Letter, 

dated 3/24/06 
67 Proposal from Consolidated Pacific 

Development to Richard Johnson 
with handwriting, dated 7/14/05 

68 Land Purchase Agreement Signed by 
Seller, dated 7/25/05 

69 Addendum No. 1 to Land Purchase 
Agreement, dated 8/1/05 

70 Addendum No. 2 to Land Purchase 
Agreement, dated 8/2/05 

71 Addendum No. 3 to Land Purchase 
Agreement, dated 10/9/05 

72 Addendum No. 4 to Land Purchase 
Agreement, dated 9/18/06 

VI 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VII 
 
 
 
 
 

JA1210-1218 
 

JA1219-1237 
 

JA1238-1240 
JA1241-1245 

 
JA1246-1265 

 
JA1266-1267 

 
JA1268-1269 

 
JA1270 

 
JA1271-1273 

 
JA1274-1275 

 
JA1276 

 
JA1277 

 
JA1278 

 
JA1279-1280 

 
 

JA1281-1302 
 

JA1303-1306 
 

JA1307-01308
 

JA1309-1324 
 

JA1325-1326 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

76 Indemnity Agreement, dated 12/8/06 
77 Waiver of Conflict Letter, dated 

1/17/07 

VII JA1327-1328 
JA1329-1333 

52  05/28/14 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and 
Decision 

VII JA1334-1346 

53  02/26/15 Judgment, Decree and Order for 
Foreclosure of Mechanic’s Lien 

VII JA1347-1349 

54  02/27/15 Notice of Entry of Judgment VII JA1350-1352 

55  03/10/15 Motion [filed by Iliescus] for Court to 
Alter or Amend its Judgment and Related 
Prior Orders 

VII JA1353-1389 

56  05/27/15 Order Denying Defendants’ Motion for 
Court to Alter or Amend its Judgment 
and Related Prior Orders 

VII JA1390-1393 

57  06/23/15 Notice of Appeal filed by Iliescu VII JA1394-1398 
58  07/29/15 Order [of district court Denying Motion 

for Stay Without Bond] 
VII JA1399-1402 

59  10/28/15 Order [of Nevada Supreme Court] 
Granting Motion for Stay without Posting 
Any Further Security and Order to Show 
Cause 

VII JA1403-1405 

60  11/17/15 Decision and Order Granting Motion 
Seeking Clarification of Finality of 
Judgment 

VII JA1406-1409 

61  12/16/15 Amended Notice of Appeal [filed by 
Iliescu] 

VII JA1410-1414 

62  01/26/16 Order Dismissing Appeal in Part and 
Reinstating Briefing 

VII JA1415-1417 

63  05/12/16 Appellants’ Opening Brief (NV Sup. Ct. 
Case 68346) 

VII JA1418-1484 

64  09/16/16 Motion [filed by Iliescus] to Amend 
Third-Party Complaint and Motion for 
Clarification as to Stay 

VII 
VIII 

JA1485-1532 
JA1533-1693 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

65  10/06/16 Opposition [filed by Hale Lane] to 
Motion to Amend and for Clarification as 
to Stay 

VIII JA1694-1699 

66  10/17/16 Reply Points and Authorities in Support 
of Third-Party Plaintiffs’ Motion to 
Amend Third-Party Complaint and 
Motion for Clarification as to Stay 

VIII JA1700-1705 

67  12/19/16 Order [Denying Motion to Amend Third-
Party Complaint] 

VIII JA1706-1711 

68  02/27/17 Notice of Entry of Order [Denying Third-
Party Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend] 

VIII JA1712-1720 

69  05/27/17 Nevada Supreme Court (en banc) 
Decision and Opinion reversing district 
court Judgment, Decree and Order for 
Foreclosure of Mechanic’s Lien 

VIII JA1721-1732 

70  09/22/17 Nevada Supreme Court Order denying 
rehearing 

VIII JA1733-1734 

71  10/17/17 Remittitur  VIII JA1735-1752 

72  10/17/17 Proof of Electronic Service of Remittitur VIII JA1753-1755 

73  10/24/17 Verified Memorandum of Costs [filed by 
Iliescus] 

IX JA1756-1761 

74  11/03/17 Motion for an Award of Costs and 
Attorney’s Fees and Interest Thereon 

IX JA1762-1918 

75  11/14/17 Errata to Iliescus’ Motion for an Award 
of Costs and Attorney’s Fees and Interest 
Thereon 

IX JA1919-1922 

76  11/17/17 Motion [filed by Third Party Defendant 
Hale Lane] for Summary Judgment of 
Third-Party Claims 

X JA1923-2050 

77  12/15/17 Errata to the Iliescus’ Verified 
Memorandum of Costs; and Errata to 
[their] Motion for an Award of Costs and 
Attorney’s Fees and Interest Thereon 

X JA2051-2054 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

78  12/18/17 Opposition [filed by Iliescus] to Third-
Party Defendant Hale Lane’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment Dismissal of Third-
Party Claims; and Countermotion to 
Amend Third-Party Complaint and for 
Further Time to Complete Discovery 

X 
XI 

JA2055-2148 
JA2149-2234 

79  01/03/18 Judgment Upon Remand in Favor of the 
Iliescus Releasing Steppan’s Mechanic’s 
Lien and Vacating Prior Judgment 
Thereon 

XI JA2235-2239 

80  01/08/18 Reply [filed by Third Party Defendant 
Hale Lane] in Support of Motion for 
Summary Judgment and Opposition to 
Countermotion to Amend 

XI JA2240-2300 

81  01/12/18 Reply Points and Authorities [filed by 
Iliescus] in Support of Countermotion to 
Amend Third-Party Complaint and in 
Support of Countermotion for Further 
Time to Complete Discovery 

XII 
XIII 

JA2301-2374 
JA2375-2405 

82  04/10/18 Order Denying [Iliescus’] Motion for an 
Award of Costs and Attorney’s Fees and 
Interest Thereon 

XIII JA2406-2412 

83  04/10/18 Order Granting Steppan’s Motion to 
Deny or Retax Costs, and Vacating the 
Iliescus’ Verified Memorandum of Costs 

XIII JA2413-2417 

84  04/10/18 Notice of Entry of Order Denying 
Defendants’ Motion for an Award of 
Costs and Attorney’s Fees and Interest 
Thereon 

XIII JA2418-2427 

85  04/10/18 Notice of Entry of Order Granting 
Steppan’s Motion to Deny or Retax Costs 

XIII JA2428-2435 

86  05/25/18 Supplemental Brief [filed by Third Party 
Defendant Hale Lane] re: Iliescu’s 
Decision Not to Appeal Denial of Fees 
and Costs 

XIII JA2436-2438 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

87  05/25/18 Court Directed Supplemental Brief in 
Opposition to Hale Lane’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment and in Support of 
Countermotion to Amend and for More 
Discovery 

XIII JA2439-2444 

88  06/06/18 Transcript of Proceedings of Third-Party 
Defendant Hale Lane’s Motion For 
Summary Judgment of Third-Party 
Claims, filed June 21, 2018 

XIII JA2445-2496 

89  06/12/18 Order Granting Third-Party Defendant 
Hale Lane’s Motion for Summary 
Judgment 

XIII JA2497-2511 

90  06/12/18 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Third-
Party Defendant Hale Lane’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment 

XIII JA2512-2530 

91  06/15/18 Notice of Appeal [filed by the Iliescus] of 
Summary Judgment Dismissal of Third-
Party Claims against Hale Lane 

XIII JA2531-2533 

92  06/15/18 Case Appeal Statement XIII JA2534-2539 

93  12/11/13 Trial Transcript – Day 3, pages 811-815 XIII JA2540-2545 

 
 

ALPHABETICAL INDEX 
 

DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

1 02/14/07 Application for Release of Mechanic’s 
Lien (Case No. CV07-0341) 

I JA0001-0006 

44 07/19/13 Affidavit of C. Nicholas Pereos in 
Support of Motion for Continuance and 
Motion to Extend Expert Disclosure 
Dates 

VI JA1105-1107 

45 07/19/13 Affidavit of Gordon Cowan in Support of 
Motion for Continuance and Motion to 
Extend Expert Disclosure Dates 

VI JA1108-1110 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

61 12/16/15 Amended Notice of Appeal [filed by 
Iliescu] 

VII JA1410-1414 

19 10/07/09 Answer [by Hale Lane et al.] to 
[Iliescus’] Third Party Complaint  

IV JA0851-0857 

13 09/27/07 Answer to Complaint to Foreclose 
Mechanic’s Lien and Third Party 
Complaint (Case No. CV07-01021) 

II JA0220-0253 

63 05/12/16 Appellants’ Opening Brief (NV Sup. Ct. 
Case 68346) 

VII JA1418-1484 

92 06/15/18 Case Appeal Statement XIII JA2534-2539 

6 05/04/07 Complaint To Foreclose Mechanic’s Lien 
and For Damages (Case CV07-01021) 

I JA0170-0175 

87 05/25/18 Court Directed Supplemental Brief in 
Opposition to Hale Lane’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment and in Support of 
Countermotion to Amend and for More 
Discovery 

XIII JA2439-2444 

60 11/17/15 Decision and Order Granting Motion 
Seeking Clarification of Finality of 
Judgment 

VII JA1406-1409 

2 02/14/07 Declaration of John Iliescu in Support of 
Application for Release of Mechanic’s 
Lien 

I JA0007-0013 

49 12/02/13 Defendant’s Trial Statement VI JA1153-1163 

75 11/14/17 Errata to Iliescus’ Motion for an Award 
of Costs and Attorney’s Fees and Interest 
Thereon 

IX JA1919-1922 

77 12/15/17 Errata to the Iliescus’ Verified 
Memorandum of Costs; and Errata to 
[their] Motion for an Award of Costs and 
Attorney’s Fees and Interest Thereon 

X JA2051-2054 

52 05/28/14 Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and 
Decision 

VII JA1334-1346 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

79 01/03/18 Judgment Upon Remand in Favor of the 
Iliescus Releasing Steppan’s Mechanic’s 
Lien and Vacating Prior Judgment 
Thereon 

XI JA2235-2239 

53 02/26/15 Judgment, Decree and Order for 
Foreclosure of Mechanic’s Lien 

VII JA1347-1349 

15 04/17/08 Motion [by Iliescus] for Partial Summary 
Judgment on Mark B. Steppan’s Claim 
for Foreclosure of Mechanic’s Lien 

II 
III 
IV 

JA0257-0445 
JA0446-0671 
JA0672-0708 

55 03/10/15 Motion [filed by Iliescus] for Court to 
Alter or Amend its Judgment and Related 
Prior Orders 

VII JA1353-1389 

20 08/18/11 Motion [filed by Iliescus] to Amend 
Third Party Complaint Against Defendant 
Hale Lane 

V JA0858-0910 

64 09/16/16 Motion [filed by Iliescus] to Amend 
Third-Party Complaint and Motion for 
Clarification as to Stay 

VII 
VIII 

JA1485-1532 
JA1533-1693 

32 06/28/12 Motion [filed by Iliescus’] to Remand 
(NV Sup. Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1045-1059 

76 11/17/17 Motion [filed by Third Party Defendant 
Hale Lane] for Summary Judgment of 
Third-Party Claims 

X JA1923-2050 

74 11/03/17 Motion for an Award of Costs and 
Attorney’s Fees and Interest Thereon 

IX JA1762-1918 

43 07/19/13 Motion for Continuance and Motion to 
Extend Expert Disclosure Dates 

VI JA1096-1104 

26 11/08/11 Motion for Leave to file Motion for 
Reconsideration [filed by Steppan] 

V JA0978-1004 

30 03/01/12 Motion for Leave to File Motion for 
Reconsideration; or, Alternatively, 
Motion for Relief from Order Entered 
September 1, 2011 Granting Third-Party 
Defendant’s Motion for Summary 
Judgment 

V JA1017-1040 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

29 02/17/12 Motion for Remand [filed by Steppan] 
(NV Sup. Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1011-1016 

69 05/27/17 Nevada Supreme Court (en banc) 
Decision and Opinion reversing district 
court Judgment, Decree and Order for 
Foreclosure of Mechanic’s Lien 

VIII JA1721-1732 

70 09/22/17 Nevada Supreme Court Order denying 
rehearing 

VIII JA1733-1734 

91 06/15/18 Notice of Appeal [filed by the Iliescus] of 
Summary Judgment Dismissal of Third-
Party Claims against Hale Lane 

XIII JA2531-2533 

57 06/23/15 Notice of Appeal filed by Iliescu VII JA1394-1398 
11 08/13/07 Notice of Association of Counsel I JA0212-0215 

41 04/09/13 Notice of Entry of [Stipulation and] Order 
[to Stay Claim against Hale Lane] 

VI JA1088-1091 

54 02/27/15 Notice of Entry of Judgment VII JA1350-1352 

8 05/11/07 Notice of Entry of Order I JA0179-0184 
68 02/27/17 Notice of Entry of Order [Denying Third-

Party Plaintiff’s Motion to Amend] 
VIII JA1712-1720 

84 04/10/18 Notice of Entry of Order Denying 
Defendants’ Motion for an Award of 
Costs and Attorney’s Fees and Interest 
Thereon 

XIII JA2418-2427 

85 04/10/18 Notice of Entry of Order Granting 
Steppan’s Motion to Deny or Retax Costs 

XIII JA2428-2435 

90 06/12/18 Notice of Entry of Order Granting Third-
Party Defendant Hale Lane’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment 

XIII JA2512-2530 

16 02/03/09 Opposition [by Steppan] to Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment and Cross-
Motion for Partial Summary Judgment 

IV JA0709-0802 

65 10/06/16 Opposition [filed by Hale Lane] to 
Motion to Amend and for Clarification as 
to Stay 

VIII JA1694-1699 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

78 12/18/17 Opposition [filed by Iliescus] to Third-
Party Defendant Hale Lane’s Motion for 
Summary Judgment Dismissal of Third-
Party Claims; and Countermotion to 
Amend Third-Party Complaint and for 
Further Time to Complete Discovery 

X 
XI 

JA2055-2148 
JA2149-2234 

22 09/06/11 Opposition [filed by Third Party 
Defendant Hale Lane] to Motion to 
Amend Third-Party Complaint by John 
and Sonnia Iliescu 

V JA0921-0946 

67 12/19/16 Order [Denying Motion to Amend Third-
Party Complaint] 

VIII JA1706-1711 

36 09/27/12 Order [Granting Iliescus’ and Steppan’s 
Motions for Reconsideration and 
Revoking earlier Summary Judgment in 
favor of Hale Lane] 

V JA1067-1072 

18 06/22/09 Order [Granting Partial Summary 
Judgment to Steppan and Denying 
Iliescus’ Motion] 

IV JA0847-0850 

38 01/02/13 Order [Nevada Supreme Court] 
Dismissing Appeal and Remanding to the 
District Court 

V JA1080-1081 

33 08/02/12 Order [Nevada Supreme Court] Granting 
Motions for Remand (NV Sup. Ct. Case 
60036) 

V JA1060-1062 

58 07/29/15 Order [of district court Denying Motion 
for Stay Without Bond] 

VII JA1399-1402 

59 10/28/15 Order [of Nevada Supreme Court] 
Granting Motion for Stay without Posting 
Any Further Security and Order to Show 
Cause 

VII JA1403-1405 

5 05/03/07 Order [Scheduling discovery on 
Application for Release of Mechanic’s 
Lien] 

I JA0167-0169 

28 02/07/12 Order Certifying Intent to Grant Motion 
for Reconsideration  

V JA1008-1010 
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DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

31 06/07/12 Order Certifying Intent to Grant Motion 
for Reconsideration 

V JA1041-1044 

82 04/10/18 Order Denying [Iliescus’] Motion for an 
Award of Costs and Attorney’s Fees and 
Interest Thereon 

XIII JA2406-2412 

56 05/27/15 Order Denying Defendants’ Motion for 
Court to Alter or Amend its Judgment 
and Related Prior Orders 

VII JA1390-1393 

24 10/19/11 Order Denying Motion to Amend Third 
Party Complaint Against Defendant Hale 
Lane  

V JA0967-0969 

62 01/26/16 Order Dismissing Appeal in Part and 
Reinstating Briefing 

VII JA1415-1417 

42 05/09/13 Order Granting [Steppan’s] Motion for 
Partial Summary Judgment 

VI JA1092-1095 

25 10/25/11 Order Granting Defendants Iliescus’ 
Motion to Dismiss 

V JA0970-0977 

46 08/23/13 Order Granting Motion to Strike or Limit 
Jury Demand 

VI JA1111-1113 

83 04/10/18 Order Granting Steppan’s Motion to 
Deny or Retax Costs, and Vacating the 
Iliescus’ Verified Memorandum of Costs 

XIII JA2413-2417 

21 09/01/11 Order Granting Third-Party Defendant 
Hale Lane’s Motion for Summary 
Judgment Regarding Third-Party Claims 
by John Iliescu 

V JA0911-0920 

89 06/12/18 Order Granting Third-Party Defendant 
Hale Lane’s Motion for Summary 
Judgment 

XIII JA2497-2511 

7 05/08/07 Original Verification of Complaint to 
Foreclose Mechanic’s Lien and for 
Damages 

I JA0176-0178 

50 12/04/13 Plaintiff’s Trial Statement VI JA1164-1200 

72 10/17/17 Proof of Electronic Service of Remittitur VIII JA1753-1755 
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FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

71 10/17/17 Remittitur  VIII JA1735-1752 

17 03/31/09 Reply [by Iliescus] in Support of Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment and 
Opposition to [Steppan’s] Cross-Motion 
for Partial Summary Judgment 

IV JA0803-0846 

80 01/08/18 Reply [filed by Third Party Defendant 
Hale Lane] in Support of Motion for 
Summary Judgment and Opposition to 
Countermotion to Amend 

XI JA2240-2300 

23 09/22/11 Reply in Support of Motion to Amend 
Third Party Complaint 

V JA0947-0966 

81 01/12/18 Reply Points and Authorities [filed by 
Iliescus] in Support of Countermotion to 
Amend Third-Party Complaint and in 
Support of Countermotion for Further 
Time to Complete Discovery 

XII 
XIII 

JA2301-2374 
JA2375-2405 

66 10/17/16 Reply Points and Authorities in Support 
of Third-Party Plaintiffs’ Motion to 
Amend Third-Party Complaint and 
Motion for Clarification as to Stay 

VIII JA1700-1705 

3 05/03/07 Response to Application for Release of 
Mechanic’s Lien 

I JA0014-0106 

40 02/14/13 Second Stipulation to Stay Proceedings 
Against Defendant Hale Lane and Order 
to Stay and to Dismiss Claims Against 
Defendants Dennison, Howard and 
Snyder Without Prejudice 

VI JA1085-1087 

48 09/18/13 Second Supplement to Case Conference 
Report 

VI JA1150-1152 

51  Selected Trial Exhibits [Listed by Exhibit 
Number] 
1 Notice and Claim of Lien recorded 

November 7, 2006 
2 Amended Notice and Claim of Lien 

recorded May 3, 2007 
 

VI 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 

JA1201-1204 
 

JA1205-1209 
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FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
DOCUMENT DESCRIPTION VOL. BATES NOS. 

3 Second Amended Notice and Claim 
of Lien recorded November 8, 2013 

6 Standard Form of Agreement (AIA 
B141) 

7 Addendum No. 1 to Design Contract 
8 Waiver of Conflict Letter, dated 

12/14/05 
9 Letter Proposal - Architectural Design 

Services, dated 10/25/05 
10 Memo from Sarah Class to Calvin 

Baty, dated 11/14/05 
11 Email memo from Sarah Class to 

Calvin Baty, dated 11/18/05 
12 Email memo from Sarah Class to 

Calvin Baty, dated 11/29/05 
13 Steppan Response to Owner Issues on 

AIA Contract, dated 12/20/05 
14 Architectural Design Services 

Agreement, dated 11/15/05 
15 Design Services Continuation Letter, 

dated 12/14/05 
16 Design Services Continuation Letter, 

dated 2/7/06 
17 Design Services Continuation Letter, 

dated 3/24/06 
67 Proposal from Consolidated Pacific 

Development to Richard Johnson 
with handwriting, dated 7/14/05 

68 Land Purchase Agreement Signed by 
Seller, dated 7/25/05 

69 Addendum No. 1 to Land Purchase 
Agreement, dated 8/1/05 

70 Addendum No. 2 to Land Purchase 
Agreement, dated 8/2/05 

71 Addendum No. 3 to Land Purchase 
Agreement, dated 10/9/05 

72 Addendum No. 4 to Land Purchase 
Agreement, dated 9/18/06 

VI 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

VII 
 
 
 
 
 

JA1210-1218 
 

JA1219-1237 
 

JA1238-1240 
JA1241-1245 

 
JA1246-1265 

 
JA1266-1267 

 
JA1268-1269 

 
JA1270 

 
JA1271-1273 

 
JA1274-1275 

 
JA1276 

 
JA1277 

 
JA1278 

 
JA1279-1280 

 
 

JA1281-1302 
 

JA1303-1306 
 

JA1307-01308
 

JA1309-1324 
 

JA1325-1326 
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76 Indemnity Agreement, dated 12/8/06 
77 Waiver of Conflict Letter, dated 

1/17/07 

VII JA1327-1328 
JA1329-1333 

35 09/04/12 Status Report [filed by Iliescu] (NV Sup. 
Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1065-1066 

34 08/31/12 Status Report [filed by Steppan] (NV 
Sup. Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1063-1064 

27 11/22/11 Stipulation V JA1005-1007 
39 01/09/13 Stipulation and Order VI JA1082-1084 

12 09/24/07 Stipulation to Consolidate Proceedings; 
Order Approving Stipulation 

I JA0216-0219 

37 11/09/12 Stipulation to Dismiss Appeal (NV Sup. 
Ct. Case 60036) 

V JA1073-1079 

14 03/07/08 Stipulation to Stay Proceedings Against 
Defendant Hale Lane and to Dismiss 
Claims Against Defendants Dennison, 
Howard and Snyder without Prejudice 

II JA0254-0256 

10 08/03/07 Substitution of Counsel I JA209-0211 

86 05/25/18 Supplemental Brief [filed by Third Party 
Defendant Hale Lane] re: Iliescu’s 
Decision Not to Appeal Denial of Fees 
and Costs 

XIII JA2436-2438 

9 07/30/07 Supplemental Response to Application 
for Release of Mechanic’s Lien 

I JA0185-0208 

4 05/03/07 Transcript of Proceedings – Application 
for Release of Mechanic’s Lien held on 
May 3, 2007 [Transcript filed on June 29, 
2007] 

I JA0107-0166 

47 09/09/13 Transcript of Proceedings of Hearing 
regarding Motion for Continuance and to 
Extend Expert Disclosures 

VI JA1114-1149 

88 06/06/18 Transcript of Proceedings of Third-Party 
Defendant Hale Lane’s Motion For 
Summary Judgment of Third-Party 
Claims, filed June 21, 2018 

XIII JA2445-2496 



-19- 

DOC. 
FILE/HRG. 

DATE 
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93 12/11/13 Trial Transcript – Day 3, pages 811-815 XIII JA2540-2545 

73 10/24/17 Verified Memorandum of Costs [filed by 
Iliescus] 

IX JA1756-1761 
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4185

STEPHANIE KOETTING

CCR #207

75 COURT STREET

RENO, NEVADA

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE

THE HONORABLE ELLIOTT SATTLER, DISTRICT JUDGE

--oOo--

MARK B. STEPPAN,

Plaintiff,

vs.

JOHN ILIESCU, JR., et
al.,

Defendants.
____________________________

)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)
)

Case No. CV07-00341

Department 10

TRANSCRIPT OF PROCEEDINGS

HEARING

September 9, 2013

9:00 a.m.

Reno, Nevada

Reported by: STEPHANIE KOETTING, CCR #207, RPR
Computer-Aided Transcription
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APPEARANCES:

For the Plaintiff:

HOY, CHRISSINGER, KIMMEL
By: MICHAEL HOY, ESQ.
50 W. Liberty
Reno, Nevada

For the Defendant:
NICHOLAS PEREOS, ESQ.
Attorney at Law
1610 Meadow Wood Lane
Reno, Nevada
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RENO, NEVADA, September 9, 2013, 9:00 a.m.

--oOo--

THE COURT: This is the time set for the oral

argument in case number CV07-00341, John Iliescu, et al.,

versus Mark Steppan. The only issue that we have before the

Court today is Mr. Iliescu's motion for a continuance and

motion to extend expert disclosure date.

I will simply refer to the parties as Mr. Steppan

and Mr. Iliescu, simply because I think that will be much

easier given the way the cases have been joined with the

other matter that had been previously before the Court, that

being CV07-01021. So here on behalf of Mr. Steppan is

Mr. Hoy. Present on behalf of Mr. Iliescu is Mr. Pereos.

The Court has received and reviewed the pleadings

in the case. And I believe it was Mr. Hoy who requested oral

argument, but it is Mr. Pereos' motion, therefore, Mr. Pereos

if you'd like to proceed.

MR. PEREOS: Good morning, your Honor. I'm not

going to rehash the history of the case. I imagine the Court

has read it ad nauseam with regard to the various pleadings.

I would like to fill in some voids. When attorney

Tom Hall was representing Iliescu, he was faced with an issue

concerning the dismissal of all the lawsuits. And as a
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result, even though he scheduled two expert witnesses, he

scheduled an appraiser as an expert, Mr. Johnson, and he also

scheduled the attorney Mike Springer as an expert. He never

went forward to get any of the reports, because the case was

basically thrown out of Court with the Court's disposition

that there was no compliance with the discovery rules.

Okay. Mr. Cowan takes the successor over from the

particular case and his primary focus is to get the case

reinstated on that and he was successful in getting the case

reinstated at all levels to include all the particular

parties.

Now, up to that point in time, there had been

discovery performed with regard to the lawsuit. And the

focus of the discovery by both the third party defendants, as

well as Iliescu's counsel has been attacking the quantitative

amount being sought by Steppan in connection with the

mechanic's lien.

And the argument was basically that under NRS

108.222, subsection one, subsection B, to be distinguished

from A, that the amount of fees that the architect would

receive absent the contract was going to be fair market

value. The legitimacy of that argument was predicated on the

fact that the contract provided that it was not to be for the

benefit of anybody else but the contracting party. And I
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remind the Court that Iliescu was not a contracting party to

this case. He is the landowner. The contracting party was

the person to whom he sold the property to and that was

section 1.3.7.5.

So where prior counsel was going with the case was

two-fold. They would demonstrate that Mr. Steppan, the only

one licensed in Nevada, to be distinguished from the Fisher

Friedman firm that he was working for, okay, did not invest

enough time and energy in the case to warrant the claim of

$1.8 million. Okay. And, furthermore, okay, that all the

other people that were not working under his business license

and what have you. And that's where the defense was and

that's where most of the deposition discovery was on that

when I read through all the depositions.

This Court comes down and it makes a decision and

the order for partial summary judgment is on May 8th. And in

that decision, the Court says, no, Iliescu, I'm going to hold

you to 108.222, subsection one, subsection A, that says you

are controlled by the contract and the contract identifies

that there is to be a fee. Now, I would bring to the Court's

attention that the basis for that ruling is section 1.5 of

the contract. And 1.5.1 discusses what the billing is on the

contract, not what has been earned on the contract.

But put that issue aside. I've got to live with
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the order that I've got. And what happens now is the Court

says, sorry, we're not going into an issue of quantum meruit.

That's basically what the Court is saying. So the strategy,

when I get the case and I get the assignment. And for the

Court's benefit, I get the assignment was around June, as

I'll discuss who the experts were when I got a hold of them.

THE COURT: Mr. Pereos, let me interrupt you for a

moment, because I am familiar with the procedural history of

the case. And one of the issues that I raised or that I

included in the order and what I'd like really like you to

focus on this moment is your claim, assuming everything you

say is accurate, and I will, your claim is this, that I

entered an order on May 9th, which as you allege in your

moving papers shifted the focus or the landscape of the case

dramatically. Let's just, again, assume that's true.

You file a motion in July asking for a continuance

of an October trial date, because you need to find an expert

or experts. And so my question was, and what I wanted you to

address during the hearing, was what steps did you take or

your predecessor take from May 9th, the day you found out, as

you say, that the focus or the axis had shifted in this case,

what did you do from that day forward to get an expert? What

have you done since that day? What are your continuing

efforts to potentially get an expert? That's what my focus
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is on. That's what I'm interested in hearing about regarding

the motion to continue.

MR. PEREOS: Okay. On that, when I looked at the

prior disclosures, I noticed that Mr. Johnson was disclosed.

He was disclosed. Steve Johnson was disclosed as an expert

back in August 31st, 2011. I get ahold of Mr. Clark. He

says, no, he didn't do a report. The reason he didn't do the

report, says Mr. Clark, the case went out the window before

Mr. Gordy Cowan resurrected it.

I then got ahold of Mr. Campbell. I spoke with

Mr. Campbell approximately the second or third week of July.

Joe Campbell, he's an MAI appraiser. I asked Mr. Campbell,

look, I want you to look at this project, because I want to

look at the viability of this project, whether or not this

project could ever have gotten off the ground.

I don't know where the Court lives, the judge

lives, but I want the Court to recognize that there were 400

condominium units approved on this project, two people per

unit. That would be 800 people living on 1.5 acres of land.

My first impression was this didn't make sense on that. When

they got the tentative approvals, there were 26 conditions

attached to the tentative approval, all of which were in

compliance.

So I get a hold of Mr. Campbell and I say, listen,

JA1120



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

8

Mr. Campbell, I need to know whether or not this was a viable

project, whether or not it made economic sense. Mr. Campbell

gets back to me approximately ten days ago.

THE COURT: Stop, Mr. Pereos. My question was,

what happened between the 9th of May and theoretically this

moment right now in time? And if I understand your reply is,

you went back and looked, and the first contact you're having

with someone about the case as far as being an expert is not

at any time in May, not at any time in June, but in July.

MR. PEREOS: That's correct.

THE COURT: My question is, why did you wait? The

day the order comes down, May 9th, Mr. Cowan is representing

Mr. Iliescu, is that correct?

MR. PEREOS: That's correct.

THE COURT: So May 9th comes down, Mr. Cowan,

presumably, gets a copy of the order. I can pull it up on my

computer to find out when the order was sent or that it was

sent to Mr. Cowan, but one has to assume it was. So he's got

a copy of the order from May 9th. He knows what's going on.

I understand you say he's got physical issues, but he's not

mentally incapacitated.

So the Court sends out an order May 9th. Nothing

happens in the month of May. And you come in in June and

still nothing happens. Nothing happens until July, when
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somebody finally picks up and say, wait, we need an expert on

this issue. And that's where, frankly, my focus is. And

then so July comes and you speak to the expert and he just

gets back to you ten days ago and tells you what?

MR. PEREOS: He tells me, approximately, that the

project would not pencil out, which is consistent with why

they never got any financing on this particular project.

What he works is he works up the numbers as to what it would

approximately take to sell off the project over a period of

time, that it would take to absorb the condominium units,

what the market conditions were on the thing. And he

basically says, it would not pencil out on that thing.

After he gets back to me, I tell him, I need a

report. I actually expected to get the report the latter end

of last week. I talked to Joe. He said he would get it to

me by the first part of this week.

I then get ahold of a mortgage expert, a mortgage

broker, and I discuss with him the viability of getting

financing on this project back at that particular time with

these particular numbers on that. Mark basically says, it's

not viable on that. Now, I don't --

THE COURT: So, Mr. Pereos, then in your moving

papers where you describe the fact, I believe it's in your

reply, that somehow that the plaintiff or, excuse me, that
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Mr. Steppan wouldn't be prejudiced by a continuance, because

there's this possibility that the project itself would be

resurrected. Based upon what you're telling me now, that's

just not true. This project is just, for lack of a better

term, it's a dog, it's dead, it's not going to happen under

any circumstances. Is that accurate?

MR. PEREOS: The project is a dead project. What

I was saying in my reply argument was we were not

precipitating a delay because after the tentative permits

were approved, you can get extensions.

THE COURT: There were a number of them in this

case, like four years' worth of extensions.

MR. PEREOS: I believe there were two extensions.

THE COURT: Of two years each?

MR. PEREOS: I think one year each. Now, I may be

misspeaking, but I'm not sure, I don't have that committed to

memory. But I do believe there were two extensions. Both of

those extensions were at the request and the insistence of

the architect. They paid for the extensions, the purpose of

which was to keep the project alive. It serves Iliescu's

agenda to keep the project alive, as well.

After the second extension expired, that's when

the project died. That's what I discussed in the reply that

we were not the ones that were simply delaying this, we were
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waiting to see if this project can be resurrected.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. PEREOS: On that thing. So after

Mr. Campbell, I talked to Mr. Campbell, I start then -- I

also speak to or we get ahold of --

THE COURT: Hold on a second, Mr. Pereos. I just

want to clarify something. The issue of the extension is

actually first brought up in Mr. Hoy's opposition to your

motion and that's why I just flipped back through that

document as well. And so it's clear, it was the Iliescus who

were requesting the continuance or the extensions, not Mr.

Steppan, at least as I read this.

On page three of 11 of Mr. Hoy's opposition, it

states, the tentative map approval required the applicant,

parenthetically, the Iliescus, close paren, file a final map

within two years or November 30th of 2008. Even though the

developers had abandoned the project, the Iliescus filed an

application to extend the final map deadline by two years,

Exhibit 6. The Iliescus paid for the application to extend

the time, Exhibit 7.

The City of Reno notified the Iliescus of the

hearing on their application to extend time, Exhibit 8. The

City of Reno granted the Iliescus' application to extend the

time for a final map to November 30th of 2010, Exhibit 9.
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Two years later, the Iliescus again, and again is underlined,

applied to extend the final map deadline by another year,

Exhibit 10. Again, the City of Reno granted the Iliescus

request, Exhibit 11. So I got the numbers a little bit

wrong. It's a total of three years, not four years. But

your representation that it was Mr. Steppan who was doing

that is not accurate. My recollection was correct, it was

the Iliescus who were trying to somehow keep this thing

afloat. That's my term, not anyone else's.

MR. PEREOS: If I may, your Honor, at the time of

trial, I will present written evidence, whereby Steppan

implores Iliescu in writing to sign the documents to extend.

THE COURT: That might be true, but the Iliescus

are the ones who did. It is completely, it may be a

different setting, but it was the Iliescus who were filling

out the paper work and trying to keep the project going.

MR. PEREOS: They have to, because they're the

owners of the project. I will also be in a position to

submit evidence showing that the checks for payment of the

extensions came out of the architectural firm.

THE COURT: Okay.

MR. PEREOS: Now, having said that, okay, after I

spoke, or after I got the communications from the

architect -- excuse me -- from the appraiser, I then go to
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Don Clark. And we speak with Don Clark. We contacted

Mr. Clark around mid July. He's an architect. And one of

the things I asked Mr. Clark is what's the custom and

practice? What's the responsibility of the architect in

connection with a viable project? Does he just simply go off

and design a project, even if it's not viable? Okay. And to

that degree, the architectural contract addresses that issue

in article 2.1 that discusses the responsibilities of the

architect on that.

Clark comes back and basically submits the

proposition, no, he's got to basically not only review the

stuff, but also give some input as to the viability of the

project. Now, I'm not addressing the issue as to whether or

not the schematic design work was being done. I'm addressing

the issue as to the architect's performance under the

contract.

THE COURT: Again, Mr. Pereos, that's not the

issue. Your motion is you want to continue the trial because

you need more expert testimony.

MR. PEREOS: That's correct.

THE COURT: So you're describing what you want

your expert to testify to or the issues, but the point kind

of keeps escaping the argument, which is, why didn't this

happen before? Not what is expected to be testified to, but
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why is it that this was not, this issue was not anticipated?

It seems to be that your argument is we never thought that

this was a possibility. And by we I mean yourself and if I

remember correctly the four or five different law firms or

attorneys who were representing Mr. Iliescu during the course

of this litigation.

You're basically just saying, we never thought of

that, and, therefore, we didn't plan for any of that and now

the Court has ruled and we need to somehow fix it. So my

question isn't what these people are going to testify to,

it's why didn't you think of it before? What steps have been

taken to rectify the situation now? Why should I grant a

continuance? Not some of the other stuff you're talking

about. So, go ahead, continue.

MR. PEREOS: Your Honor, I only got into the case

mid to late June. That's when I was first contacted. My

substitution only went on on July 13th. I cannot talk to

what the other attorneys were doing or thinking. All I can

do is surmise as to why Mr. Clark never went forward with

actually engaging the experts and thinking this and why

Mr. Cowan did not on that.

When I got into the case, I went through the

entire file relatively quickly, taking into consideration

this Court's order, and I started getting ahold of these
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various people on that. But the actual discovery cutoff

date, okay, was due on May 24th for expert disclosure. I

wasn't even in the case on May 24th.

THE COURT: And then 30 days later for rebuttal

experts.

MR. PEREOS: Yes, 30 days later for the rebuttal

experts. I'm not in the case. I can't talk as to why, other

than to simply say, sure, Tom Clark must have engaged the

expert, because the case got thrown out. Gordy Cowan focused

his energies by basically resurrecting the case from the

appeal and didn't think far enough ahead in terms to the

trial. That's all I can say on those issues.

I can only address what I did when I got involved,

because that's the way I got the order focused on me, and I

can tell you who I spoke to when I spoke to them.

THE COURT: It sounds like based on the

representations you're making that you have spoken to experts

and that those conversations have occurred contemporaneously

with your involvement in the case and you have continued to

try at least to get some people to be able to testify as

experts during the trial.

MR. PEREOS: In fact, I've got commitments. What

happened on the particular legal issues, there's a legal

issue that this Court's going to have to address. And one of
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the legal issues the Court has to address is whether or not,

okay, we got a pre-lien notice mandated by statute and that's

108.226, small letter six.

THE COURT: I'm not going to talk about that at

all today beyond saying this, Judge Adams ruled on that. I

was surprised about, in essence, the -- I was surprised about

the argument you were making, Mr. Pereos, in the sense that

the argument that you were presenting in your papers had

nothing to do with the motion that you were making was that

was just like an advisory opinion of Judge Adams. That was

just kind of like his thoughts on the issue. I don't believe

that at all. I believe that's the law of this case.

It's not something we're going to go back and

relitigate. There is an order in this case regarding that

specific issue. So if your thought is that at some point

during the trial, we're going to revisit what Judge Adams has

already clearly ordered, that's not going to happen, because

I think that the ruling has been made and it's done.

So to go back and say, and now we're going to

start talking about that all over again, it's somewhat -- it

just doesn't make sense to me, because it would eliminate the

whole point of filing the motion. Because you file a motion

and a judge would rule on it, and then the losing party gets

to say, well, okay, we're still going to talk about that.
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No. The purpose of the motion is to resolve that legal

issue, and I believe that legal issue in this case has been

resolved. Presumably, if you don't think it was resolved

correctly, there certainly is an appellate process that's

involved. But to just to say, well, I don't think so, I want

to do it again, I don't think that's going to be happening

during the trial.

MR. PEREOS: If I may get some clarification from

the Court. When I read Judge Adams' ruling, Judge Adams

denied the motion to expunge the lis pendens based upon the

argument that Iliescu had actual knowledge. The argument was

that Iliescu did not. Judge Adams said, no, he had actual

knowledge. Okay. I don't read Judge Adams' opinion

addressing the mandated requirement that there had to be a

pre-lien notice in a residential project.

Now, if this Court reads that into the order and

says, that's the way I read the order of Judge Adams, I don't

revisit the issue. I've got to live with the decision of

this Court.

THE COURT: Which I believe Judge Adams' order

speaks for itself. I don't have it in front of me. But I

think it speaks for itself on the issue. Like I said, that

has nothing to do, frankly, with your motion for a

continuance. Again, as I read your motion, it's I didn't --
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I came into the case late June, early July. I immediately

took steps to act upon my order regarding how the damages

would be assessed in this case. And I continue to take those

steps and attempt to be able to resolve this issue or to

litigate this issue. That's what the motion should be about,

not any of the other extraneous stuff that is going on.

And that Mr. Cowan was somehow unable to

appreciate the issue that was presented by my order when he

was still the attorney of record and did nothing about it

from May 9th until you came on to the case, and Mr. Pereos,

you said, I immediately began to act on what you perceive to

be a glaring weakness or possibly a completely missed issue

in the case. That's kind of where I see the whole thing.

MR. PEREOS: Well, if I may, your Honor, in terms

of showing my activity and my efforts, okay, I did speak to

two lawyers, thinking this was still an issue with regard to

the legitimacy of the mechanic's lien. And I did speak to

both lawyers, okay. I first spoke to Mike Johnson -- excuse

me -- Mike Springer was listed and I spoke to Mike, okay, in

early July. When he didn't do a report, I then actually

amended my disclosures to reference Karen Dennison and I

spoke with Dave Grundy representing Karen Dennison. I'm

simply saying that's what I did, because I still thought that

was an issue for the Court.
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So if that's not an issue to the Court, the only

thing I have is in terms of the -- and the reason for my

continuance is for the expert disclosures on that. The only

thing I have left is to show the viability of a project and

whether or not the architect complied with his obligations

under the contract and those are the witnesses I already

discussed. That's all I've got. And I contacted them in the

first part of July.

THE COURT: Mr. Hoy.

MR. HOY: Thank you, your Honor, good morning.

THE COURT: Good morning.

MR. HOY: Let me just clarify a few factual things

to begin with. First of all, on the extensions of the

development entitlements with the City of Reno, Dr. Iliescu

and his wife Sonnia made the initial application to extend

the filing deadline for the final map by two years. That had

nothing to do with my client Steppan. The second time

Iliescu went before the city council to have this done, my

client was involved and did offer to pay the fee to the city

to have it extended.

I don't want to get into the settlement

negotiations too much, but one of the terms of the settlement

that Judge Adams negotiated between the parties was that

there would be further extensions and Dr. Iliescu elected
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after that settlement conference not to continue on to extend

the project. So at this point, the entitlements are not in

place. They may be revived. They may not be revived. I'm

really not sure. That would depend on the city council

make-up at the time the application is remade.

Here's one of the problems that I've really

struggled with in responding to the motion. What is the

scope of the expert testimony that will be offered? Why do

we need additional time to get new experts? One of the, you

know, sort of fundamental principles in the evidence code is

that you can only have an expert when it's helpful to the

Court. And there are legion cases out there that talk about

people trying to bring in lawyers or other experts to tell

the judge what the law is. And the cases are pretty

universal that the trial judge is the expert on domestic law.

And so any attempt to bring in Michael Springer or anybody

else to tell your Honor what the law is, is simply futile.

That doesn't happen.

THE COURT: It would somewhat eliminate the need

for me if it were.

MR. HOY: It would. You could just have different

lawyers testify to a jury as opposed to arguing to a jury in

a jury case.

THE COURT: And I guess in the big picture, to
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bring in other lawyers to testify on what the law should be

is not the elimination of the judge, it is kind of a buttress

of the actual lawyers who are already retained in the case.

That is the lawyers' jobs.

MR. HOY: Correct.

THE COURT: The retained attorneys' jobs are to

advise the Court about what they perceive to be the status of

the law, both statutorily and the caselaw. And then it's the

Court's job to interpret those or to read those and come to

some sort of conclusion. So to have some other lawyer come

in and have retained lawyer call hired lawyer to come in and

say what the law is, is just basically one more layer of a

pleading. Go ahead.

MR. HOY: So my position is it's futile to extend

any time periods for the purpose of bringing in experts to

tell the Court what the law is. Right.

So applying that general principle to the original

motion, one of the points that Dr. Iliescu wanted to make

with a new expert is to have somebody come before the Court

and say, look it, there's been a change in the law with

respect to notices of non-responsibility and those changes

happened in 2005, and those changes somehow affect the

pre-lien notice.

Well, that's futile for two distinct reasons.
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Number one, you can't have expert testimony on the law. If

somebody wants to demonstrate what the law is before the

Court and wants to demonstrate what the legislative history

is, it's a very simple thing to just ask judicial notice of

the legislative history and then make your best argument

based on what the legislative history is.

From my perspective, it's a nonsensical argument.

The notice of non-responsibility is something that the owner

gives to the world to say, I'm not going to be responsible

for these improvements. The pre-lien notice is the notice to

the owner saying, hey, I'm going to do some work on your

property. And that issue has already been decided as your

Honor already pointed out.

The motion and the reply also talk about the point

that Steppan, Mr. Steppan personally didn't perform all the

work and, therefore, there's this legal argument that Mr.

Steppan can only have a mechanic's lien for the work he

personally did, not just the work that he supervised.

Again, that's a legal argument. That's an

interpretation of NRS Chapter 108, the first section applies

to mechanic's liens. The papers also talk about licensing

issues, talking about how some of these people who performed

some of the work were not licensed architects in Nevada, even

though they were under the responsibility and control of Mark

JA1135



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

23

Steppan, who is a licensee in Nevada. Again, that's a legal

issue. That's not something that you bring in experts to

talk about.

The third area of expert testimony proposed is the

custom and the practice as to the fee alleged to have been

earned. Again, this something that is controlled by statute,

number one. And the statute says that if there is a written

contract, the written contract controls. So habit and custom

of other architects and how they compute their fees and how

they do their billing is really not before the Court. It's

not relevant. Because what is relevant is, what does the

written contract say in this case?

There was a point in the briefing where Dr.

Iliescu said we need an expert to review the work product and

give an opinion about the stage of completion of the work

that Steppan performed. And that would be a legitimate area

for expert testimony, although it hasn't been suggested so

far this morning.

On that point, your Honor, Mr. Steppan gave a

timely disclosure of Brad Van Woert's opinion. Mr. Van Woert

looked through all of the, they call them instruments of

service, but it's basically the drawings and specifications,

the videos and so forth. Yes, the phase called schematic

design has been completed by Steppan. There's no question
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about that.

We provided that disclosure to Mr. Cowan on behalf

of Dr. and Mrs. Iliescu. Cowan then has 30 days to rebut

that. He has 30 days to go out and find an expert to come

back and say, no, I don't think that stage of completion was

actually satisfied, but he didn't do it.

On June 7th of this year, Mr. Cowan wrote to me

and said, geez, Mike, I haven't had a chance to go get

experts, can you please extend? This is all in my

declaration attached to the opposition. On June 10th, I

wrote back to say, you know, Gordy, I can't do it, here's

why, we're worried about yet another trial continuance and so

on and so forth, but you do have time to find a rebuttal

expert.

This morning, we hear about another area of

proposed expert testimony, that is, that Dr. Iliescu wants to

hire Joe Campbell as an appraiser to give testimony that this

project is not viable. The viability of the project today is

not really the issue, your Honor. Perhaps viability of the

project back at the time that the architects were doing all

of this work is relevant.

And I will represent to the Court that we have

trial exhibits ready to go where the developers, who were

dealing with Dr. and Mrs. Iliescu had several different
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economic reports saying this project is absolutely viable.

So if we're really going to go down that path, we're going to

need a little bit of time to fully flesh that out. But

assuming that those preexisting reports come into evidence,

we will prove that the project was viable at the time.

THE COURT: Well, it might be an interesting

issue. I mean, we know hindsight being what it is -- well,

it would be interesting testimony to hear that this project

was viable at the time, which was 2006, 2005, I can't

remember the exact date when it was initially proposed. It

was viable then, but now we know today based on any number of

other projects in the area of a similar nature, that those

estimates might not have been accurate.

MR. HOY: Well, the project was approved by the

city council late in November of 2006.

THE COURT: 2006.

MR. HOY: At some point shortly after that, the

financial economy started to collapse.

THE COURT: Right. And this is a side point, I'm

sure, Mr. Hoy, but we know just based on the area, if you go,

you know, in one square mile around the location where this

building was going to be built, where this project was going

to be constructed, there are any number of hotels and other

structures that were converted into condominiums that were
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not as successful based on those factors that you suggested,

the down-turn in the economy and the collapse of the housing

market, that those projects were not as successful as

anticipated.

MR. HOY: I guess my point, your Honor, would be

that it really is not relevant. Under the mechanic's lien

statute, if I'm an contractor and I build an apartment

complex for you and our contract says I get paid $3 million

to build the apartment complex, you can't come into court six

years later and say, well, Mr. Hoy, I would love to have the

ability to pay you, but I can't, because I couldn't rent out

all of these apartments for what I hoped to rent them out

for. It doesn't diminish the amount that is secured by my

mechanic's lien one bit.

THE COURT: Well, I understand. I agree with you

about that. I wasn't trying to make the argument or indicate

that I would support the argument that you suggested, in

essence, that the mechanic has to provide the service and

then wait to see if his service has value at the conclusion

of the service. In essence, to build out the project and

then hope it works at the value, because then -- go ahead,

I'll stop talking.

MR. HOY: All right. So just to wrap it up real

quick, our argument is simply this, all of the expert
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testimony that has been proposed, with one possible

exception, is completely futile. It's irrelevant to the

case. So let's not push back the trial any further for the

purpose of allowing expert testimony on matters that simply

are not going to affect the outcome of the case.

And, again, the only piece of expert testimony

that could affect the outcome of the case is testimony about

whether or not Steppan achieved completion of the schematic

design as defined in the design contract. That's it.

THE COURT: Mr. Pereos, would you like to make any

closing comments?

MR. PEREOS: Yes, your Honor, I would. The

evidence is going to demonstrate that this project was

initially contemplated as 256 condominium units. It went to

399 units, which means you had to raise the floors, you had

to meet parking requirements and what have you in order to

get the 399 units.

This discussion on the viability of the project

goes to show the architect's performance under the contract

and whether or not he's breached his obligations under the

contract to which my defense would be that he's not entitled

to his fee on that. Because when this Court made a partial

order for summary judgment saying I'm controlled by 108.222,

subsection one, subsection A, the only thing left for me to
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do was simply to shoot holes in the argument that he didn't

get to the schematic design stage or alternatively to show he

didn't perform under the contract.

The Court has already told me we're not revisiting

the mechanic's lien so the whole idea with the lawyers is

moot. I wasn't going to introduce the lawyers' testimony for

the purposes of discussing the law, but to discuss the

history of the change to the mechanic's lien.

THE COURT: I think, Mr. Pereos, as Mr. Hoy

pointed out, to make it as simple as possible, that's your

job. It's not the job of some other attorney to come in.

You can certainly make the argument to the Court or to any

Court, not just to me, but to any Court about what the status

of the law is or how the law has evolved if that evolution

somehow applies to the case.

So I don't think that there would have been a need

at any time to bring in an attorney to discuss that as an

expert with the Court, because -- and I would make one other

observation. As we know, I've already ruled that this matter

will be a bench trial as opposed to jury trial and,

therefore, there doesn't need to be any explanation at all to

the jury about any of those issues. They can just simply be

arguments that are made to the Court.

MR. PEREOS: One final observation, if I may, your
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Honor?

THE COURT: Certainly.

MR. PEREOS: It would seem to me to make a lot

more sense to realign the parties at this stage in the

proceedings, instead of Iliescu taking the defense position

in the case.

THE COURT: I think you're correct there, but,

again, given the fact it's going to be a bench trial rather

than a jury trial, I think I can do the mental gymnastics. I

know that the parties in their pleadings are often referring

to each other as plaintiffs and defendants interchangeably

based on the fact that these two cases were joined. And I

believe that in my order, I referred to Mr. Iliescu as the

defendant, Mr. Steppan as the plaintiff, even though in Mr.

Pereos' moving papers, Mr. Steppan is represented as the

defendant and Mr. Iliescu is represented as the plaintiff.

As we all know that in the end, this action is one brought by

Mr. Steppan regarding his mechanic's lien against Dr.

Iliescu. And I've referred to him as Mr. Iliescu a number of

times, not out of disrespect, just out of forgetting to say

Dr. Iliescu.

The problem I'm confronted with is this, number

one, I agree with Mr. Hoy, there is absolutely no reason to

bring in any expert attorney testimony in the case. And so
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any expert evidence that would be offered by an attorney to

explain the law to me is irrelevant.

As the parties probably know, I was appointed to

the bench on March 18th, at least that was my first day, and

one of the obligations that I have by statute is that I must

attend the judicial college. What has occurred is that the

first judicial college available for me was in April and the

next one was the last week of September and the first week of

October. And so I'm scheduled to go to the judicial college.

I have to do that within a specific period of time. And,

therefore, I am not available when this trial is scheduled.

I have attempted to have one of my colleagues take

the case. I've talked to the chief judge about the

situation. And, unfortunately, there is no one else based on

schedules. And as we know, Department Six is not available,

because Judge Adams recused himself, Judge Berry has recused

herself. I believe the case after it was assigned to

Department Six was assigned to Department One and that's how

it wound up here. After Judge Berry recused herself, it

wound up in Department Ten then with Judge Elliott.

And so I have no desire, frankly, to continue the

case at this point, however, I have no choice but to continue

the case simply because there's no one who can conduct the

trial and I cannot be here.
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The trial date in this case was set by the

parties, I believe, in September of last year, or maybe it

was in January. I can't remember from the pleadings that

Mr. Hoy, I think, gave me a chronology. It might have been

September of last year. Is that right?

MR. HOY: It would have been January, I believe,

but it was certainly before your Honor took the bench.

THE COURT: And so the case, unfortunately, has to

be continued. It is my desire that the case be continued for

as brief a period of time as possible. And I'm not

continuing it so other experts can go out and be retained.

That's not the reason that I'm doing this. It's simply

because I have to do this bench trial and I'm not available

to do it when it has been scheduled.

I do know, Mr. Hoy, that you did point out

correctly to the section in Chapter 108, I think it's

108.239, subsection eight, that says that mechanic's liens

are given preferential trial settings. And the problem is

that the 23rd I'm doing a criminal trial that will go for

sure. The two following weeks, I'm at the judicial college.

Three weeks after that, I am in a civil trial where the

defense is a pro per defendant, and so I don't know if the

three-week estimate is accurate. I personally think that the

trial counsel usually are better able to estimate the amount
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of trial will take then pro se litigants. So I simply don't

know how long that case is going to take and then we're into

November.

What I will do is instruct the parties right now

to at the conclusion of this hearing to go and talk to my

judicial assistant about trial dates. It is my desire that

this trial be continued as briefly as possible,

acknowledging, number one, the fact that the case was

originally filed in 2007, and, number two, as Mr. Hoy has

pointed out, the plaintiff, Mr. Steppan, does have a right to

a preferential trial setting.

I am going to be present and available during the

holidays. I'm going to be here the beginning of the year

next year. So I don't want the parties when they set the

trial to think, well, this is Christmas week or it's

Thanksgiving week or something along those lines, I'll be

here. And it's not a jury trial, it is a bench trial, so the

parties can get together and decide what day better suits

them with that in mind. And I have briefly discussed the

issue with my judicial assistant and let her know to start

looking at dates to see where the schedule is.

Regarding the request to extend expert

disclosures, the Court has already made a ruling regarding

whether or not lawyers will be designated as experts to
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testify to the status of the law. Mr. Pereos, what I will

permit you to do is to continue to try and retain an expert

and make an offer of proof to the Court on how that expert is

relevant to the case. And then I will make a decision

whether or not I believe that expert is relevant and is

evidence that should be presented at the trial in a

preliminary way.

And I will give Mr. Hoy the opportunity, assuming

I allow that expert to testify, then to have 30 days to

designate a rebuttal expert. But that's only if I decide

that you're going to get to call the expert. So you still

have the obligation to attempt to retain the expert and then

make an offer of proof to the Court as to why that expert is

necessary. And then I will make a determination whether that

expert can or cannot testify.

I don't believe that I'll need any motion practice

on the part of the attorneys, but if I do feel that motions

are appropriate, then I will certainly give the parties ample

notice and the opportunity to file a motion. Presumably,

Mr. Hoy, if you want to file to strike the designation of the

expert, you can do that.

So the big picture is I don't know how far out

this case is going to go. That's really up to the attorneys.

I do apologize both to Mr. Steppan and to Dr. and
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Mrs. Iliescu, I presume everybody wants to get the case over

with, it was just frankly one of those things that happens

when new judges get appointed and some things change. I wish

there was something I could do. Frankly, I wish I could just

not go to the judicial college now and hear the trial and

resolve this case one way or the other, but I can't. I have

an obligation to go to the judicial college as a result of a

my appointment.

So that will be the order of the Court. The

parties are instructed to meet with my judicial assistant.

If you want to go meet with her right now, if you have your

trial calendars available or your schedules available, she's

available. If not, all I will say is that the parties will

meet with my judicial assistant by the close of business this

Friday and establish a date when this case will go to trial.

I'm not a huge fan of drawing big lines in the

sand and saying this case will not be continued under any

circumstances from this point forward, because I can never

anticipate what those circumstances may be. But it is my

desire and my firm belief that the next date that is set for

this case will be the date that it goes to trial, absent some

unforeseen and very dramatic circumstances. I can't imagine

what would happen that would make me continue this trial

again. I think the case needs to get going. So that will be

JA1147



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

35

the order of the Court. Court's in recess.

--oOo--
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STATE OF NEVADA )
) ss.

County of Washoe )

I, STEPHANIE KOETTING, a Certified Court Reporter of the

Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada, in and

for the County of Washoe, do hereby certify;

That I was present in Department No. 10 of the

above-entitled Court on September 9, 2013, at the hour of

9:00 a.m., and took verbatim stenotype notes of the

proceedings had upon the hearing in the matter of MARK B.

STEPPAN, Plaintiff, vs. JOHN ILIESCU, JR., et al.,

Defendants, Case No. CV07-00341, and thereafter, by means of

computer-aided transcription, transcribed them into

typewriting as herein appears;

That the foregoing transcript, consisting of pages 1

through 36, both inclusive, contains a full, true and

complete transcript of my said stenotype notes, and is a

full, true and correct record of the proceedings had at said

time and place.

DATED: At Reno, Nevada, this 16th day of June 2014.

S/s Stephanie Koetting
STEPHANIE KOETTING, CCR #207
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CODE: 4210 
C. NICHOLAS PEREOS, ESQ. 
Nevada Bar #0000013 
1610 MEADOW WOOD LANE, STE. 202 
RENO, NV 89502 
(775) 329-0678 

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANTS 

2U13 DEC- 2 M1 9: 09 

IN THE SECOND JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 

IN AND FOR THE COUNTY OF WASHOE 

MARK B. STEPPAN, 

Plaintiff, 

vs. 

JOHN ILIESCU, JR. and SONNIA ILIESCU, as 
Trustees of the JOHN ILIESCU, JR. AND 
SONNIA ILIESCU 1992 FAMILY TRUST, 

Defendants. 

AND RELATED MATTERS. 
I 

A. STATEMENT OF FACTS 

) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 
) 

Case No.: CV0?-00341 
(Consolidated w/ CV0?-01021) 

Trial Date: December 9, 2013 
Dept. No.: 10 

DEFENDANTS' TRIAL 
STATEMENT 

18 On July 29, 2005, John lliescu, Jr., et al. (hereinafter referred to as "lliescu") entered 

19 into a sales contract with Consolidated Pacific Development for the sale of property in 

20 Reno, Nevada. As part of the sales agreement, lliescu was to receive a credit towards the 

21 purchase price for a new penthouse in the residential condominium project. In order to 

22 facilitate the terms of this transaction, lliescu engaged the law firm of Hale Lane. Despite 

23 the language contained in the contract of sale, it was assigned to another legal entity with 

24 the knowledge and cooperation of the Hale Lane firm as they also represented the 

25 assignee. 

26 lliescu had knowledge that an architect was to be engaged as one of the 

27 addendums to the contract contemplated that lliescu would work with the architect for 

28 purposes of facilitating his acquisition of a penthouse unit which would then apply towards 
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the purchase price. However, the contract of sale with Consolidated Pacific does not 

2 reference the name and address of the architect. It only references the use of an architect. 

3 Without the knowledge and consent of lliescu, the purchase contract was assigned to BSC 

4 Investments. BSC Investments engages Fisher Friedman Associates. Mark Steppan is 

5 affiliated with Fisher Friedman Associates. 

6 The first meeting with the architect and the developer (now BSC Investments) was 

7 approximately in September 2005. The terms of the architect's engagement were 

8 controlled by letters of engagement first executed around September I October 2005. 

9 During this time frame, the parties could not agree upon the language of the AlA contract 

10 and the subject contract was not signed until the end of April2006. Prior to that time, there 

11 were letters of understanding and engagement so that the architect could pursue forward 

12 movement with regard to the project. The architect had no agreement with lliescu nor did 

13 he ever discuss the matter with lliescu or his real estate agent prior to the execution of the 

14 AlA contract in April 2006. 

15 Although the architectural engagement was signed by Mark Steppan, the evidence 

16 with demonstrate that most of the work was performed by Fisher Friedman Associates with 

17 whom Mark Steppan was employed. Steppan recognized that only a Nevada licensed 

18 architect could work on the project. Since the AlA contract had not yet been signed, the 

19 work performed by Fisher Friedman was pursuant to the engagement letters. Fisher 

20 Friedman would bill for the work on an hourly basis and would be paid for the work. In fact, 

21 they were paid approximately $480,000. 

22 Under the AlA contract that was signed, the architect fee was discussed at 5.75% 

23 of the construction cost if the project was built, to wit, $180,000,000. The AlA contract 

24 discussed a twenty percent (20%) fee upon completion of the schematic design phase. 

25 By the time the architect contract was signed, there was already a delinquency in the 

26 billing. After the AlA contract was signed, the architect changed his methodology of billing 

27 to now reflect a percentage of the twenty percent (20%) of the 5.75% fee even though the 

28 evidence will demonstrate that most of the work done by the architect had already been 

- 2-
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1 submitted to the governmental agencies several months earlier and the project was not yet 

2 built. Following the signature on the AlA contract, the architect billed in monthly increases 

3 reflecting an increase in the percentage of the twenty percent (20%) of the 5. 75% even 

4 through the work load fails to reflect that this accelerated billing amount had been 

5 completed. The lien was filed in November 2006. Shortly before the filing of the lien, the 

6 architect billings reflected that the total twenty percent (20%) of the 5.75% was then due 

7 and owing. Steppan's justification for the lien amount is their argument that they are 

8 entitled to twenty percent (20%) of the 5.75% of the total construction cost for the 

9 completion of the project since they completed the schematic design phase of the project 

10 even though the contract does not indicate that they have earned that fee. 

II A reading of the architectural contract does not demonstrate that the architect has 

12 "earned" a 5.75% fee or any percentage thereof. Article 1.5 of the contract discusses 

13 compensation. Section 1.51 indicates that the architect services shall be computed as 

14 follows: 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

"5. 75% of the total construction cost including contractors profit 
and overhead... The total construction cost of the project will 
be evaluated at the completion of the project in order to 
determine final payment for basic architectural services. Any 
amount over the original estimated total construction cost of 
approximately $160,000 shall be paid for architectural services 
based upon the agreed upon 5.75% fee. Any amount under 
the original estimated total construction cost of approximately 
$160,000 shall be credited for architectural services based on 
the agreed upon 5.75% fee." 

In April2006, the parties agreed that 5.75% of the total construction cost will be the fee of 

the architect if the project were built. The total construction cost has yet to be evaluated. 

Albeit, the parties estimated that the total construction cost would be $180 million by 

addendum. The parties to the contract are Steppan and BSC Financial. It is not John 

lliescu. In fact, the contract specifically provides: 

"Nothing contained in this agreement shall create a contractual 
relationship with ... either the owner or architect." (Section 
1.3.7.5) 

28 /// 
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1 The owner is defined as BSC Financial. Furthermore, lliescu could never be a party to this 

2 contract and receive its benefits. Revised Paragraph 1.3.7.9 of the contract provided: 

3 

4 

"The architect and the owner shall not assign this agreement 
without the written consent of the other party or assignment 
thereof shall be void." 

5 The parties also agreed that if the owner chooses not to proceed with the project the fees 

6 of the architect will be paid as they are incurred for entitlements. This event took place! 

7 The architect billed the owner as he was incurring fees and the owner was paying the 

8 same. Article 1.5.1 provides: 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

"In the event that the owner chooses not to proceed with the 
construction of the project, the fees associated with retaining 
said entitlements will be paid as incurred in the due course of 
the project. .. " 

Although the project never went forward because of financing issues, it is the same as if 

the owner choose not to proceed with the construction of the project. By no means is 

lliescu acknowledging that it falls into the shoes of the owner under the terms of the 

contract but there is a clear provision in the contract addressing the issue of compensation 

if the project does not go forward. The evidence will demonstrate that the architect was 

paid for the work that they performed. 

B. STATEMENT OF ADMITTED FACTS. 

See Stipulation filed herewith. 

C. ISSUES OF LAW 

1. The contract is interpreted by intent and custom. 

The primary guidelines in interpreting a contract is the intent of the parties United 

States v. Moorman, 338 U.S. 457 (1950). In interpreting a contract, the cardinal rule is to 

ascertain the intention of the parties. Victory Investment Corp. v. Muskogee Electric 

Traction Co., 150 F.2d 889 (1945). The intention of the parties to a contract governs the 

Court in its interpretation of a contract and in ascertaining the rights and obligations of the 

parties to the contract. Van Doren v. Tjader, 1 Nev. 380 (_). 

Ill 

- 4-

JA1156



• • 
1 In interpreting the entire contract, the Court is to take into consideration the 

2 circumstances in which the contract was signed. A contract must be interpreted by 

3 considering all of its provisions with reference to the general subject to which they relate 

4 and in light of contemporaneous facts and circumstances so as to arrive at an intention of 

5 the parties at the time that the contract was made. Kennedy v. Schwartz, 13 Nev. 229 

6 (____). Another way to state it is that the interpretation of a contract and the ascertaining 

7 of the intention of the parties is to be considered within the frame of reference of the 

8 subject matter, nature, object and purpose of the agreement. Mobile and M.R. Co. v. 

9 Jurey, 111 U.S. 584 (1884). Words contained in a contract are to be interpreted in light of 

I 0 all the circumstances and the intent and purposes to be achieved by the contract. 

11 Restatement, Contract 2d, §202. In Nevada Ref. Co. v. Newton, 88 Nev. 333 (1972), our 

12 Supreme Court reiterated that the Court must look at the relative position of the parties at 

13 the time the contract was made and consider the object that was to be achieved when the 

14 contract was made. In determining the character of a contract, the Court must weigh all 

15 of its terms and provisions and the reasonable and natural results of the effect of the 

16 language in order to gain a perception of the intent of the parties. Coles v. Summerville, 

17 47 Nev. 306 (____). In achieving that effect, the Court may look beyond the form in which 

18 the parties have cast their agreement and to the events that existed at the time of the 

19 casting of the agreement. Hervford v. Davis, 102 U.S. 235 (1880). It is the substance of 

20 the agreement rather than the form which should control the interpretation of the 

21 document. Mutual Assurance Society v. Watts, 1 Wheat (U.S.) 279 (1816). In the case 

22 of Holland v. Rock, 15 Nev. 340 (____),our Supreme Court indicated that one is not to 

23 disregard the meaning of phrases such as "about" or "more or less". In interpreting what 

24 was intended by those phrases, the Court is to look at the intention of the parties. The 

25 significance of the ruling is that the Supreme Court felt that those phrases were significant 

26 enough to be considered by the Court in interpreting the context of a contract. 

27 Ill 

28 /// 
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I The intent of the parties is determined at the time of entering into the contract. 

2 Cedars-Sinai Medical Center v. State Board of Equalization, 162 Cai.App.3d 1182, 208 

3 Cai.Rptr. 837 (1984). In April2006, the parties sign a contract which is before approval of 

4 the project but after most of the work has been done to secure the approval. At that time, 

5 

6 

7 

8 

the parties agreed in Article 1.5.1 as follows: 

"In the event that the owner chooses not to proceed with the 
construction of the project, the fees associated with retaining 
said entitlements will be as incurred in the due course of the 
project..." 

9 The evidence will clearly demonstrate that the fees incurred by the developer were paid 

I 0 as he was billed for the work. There is more significance attached to this language when 

11 the Court considers the fact that this provision of the contract was a specific addendum to 

12 the contract negotiated between the parties. 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

In Shelton v. Shelton, 119 Nev. 492 (2003), our Supreme Court observed: 

"The question of the interpretation of a contract when the facts 
are not in dispute is a question of law. A contract is 
ambiguous if it is reasonably susceptible to more than one 
interpretation. The best approach for interpreting an 
ambiguous contract is to delve beyond the express terms and 
examine the circumstances surrounding the parties agreement 
in order to determine the true mutual intention of the parties. 
The examination includes not only the circumstances 
surrounding the contract's execution but also subsequent acts 
and declarations of the parties. Also, a specific provision will 
qualify the meaning of a general provision." !Q_, at Page 497. 

A rule of construction in contracts is that special words or provisions contained in 

the contract supersede the general provisions contained in the contract: ejusdem generis. 

Special provisions in a contract qualify that which is contained as general provisions in a 

contract, and the special provisions control. Smoot v. United States. 237 U.S. 38 (1915). 

24 When general words of a contract followed by a description of specific subjects, the 

25 meaning of the general words ordinarily will be presumed to be limited to the enumerations 

26 contained in the special subjects and include only those things contained in the special 

27 subjects. State Farm Fire and Casualty Co. v. Rowland, 143 S.E.2d 193 (1965). When 

28 the parties to an agreement reference a particular matter, those particular matters 

- 6 -
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1 supersede the general language of the contract. Where part of a contract is printed and 

2 part of a contract is typed in, the portion that is typed in will control the printed portions of 

3 the contract. The reason greater effect it given to the typed in portion of the contract than 

4 the printed part is that the typed in words are the immediate language and terms selected 

5 by the parties themselves for an expression of their meaning while the printed portion of 

6 the contract is intended only for general use without reference to particular objects or aims 

7 to be achieved. Thomas v. Taggart, 209 U.S. 385 (1908). 

8 The language of the AlA contract does not indicate therein that the architect has 

9 earned a 5.75% fee of $180,000,000. On the contrary, Section 1.5.1 discusses the fee of 

10 the architect to be at 5. 75% of the total construction cost. The language clearly indicates 

11 that the fee is based on the "total construction costs". If there is no construction cost 

12 because the project is not built, then the language of Section 1.5.1 referenced 

13 hereinabove controls. This factor is amplified when the Court reads the Paragraph of 1.5.1 

14 which provides that the 5.75% fee is to be adjusted as the total construction cost is 

15 adjusted. 

16 "5.75% of the total construction cost including contractor's 
profit and overhead.... The total construction cost of the 

17 project will be evaluated at the completion of the project..." 

18 The AlA contract provides that the 5.75% compensation advanced by Steppan is 

19 controlled by the cost of the project. It provides alternatives if the Owner chooses not to 

20 proceed. The Nevada Supreme Court observed that a contract is ambiguous if it is 

21 reasonably susceptible to more than one interpretation. Margrave v. Dermody Properties, 

22 110 Nev. 824,827 (1994). 

23 The evidence will demonstrate that the custom and trade in the industry for 

24 purposes of securing financing is to provide your lender with a completed package 

25 including the AlA contract so that you can include in the loan your architectural fees as well 

26 as your costs to construct. Prior to the signing of the AlA contract, the architect was billing 

27 for his fees. After the signing of the AlA contract, the architect billed based upon an 

28 accelerated percentage every month of the twenty percent (20%) of the schematic design 
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I aspect of the 5.75% of the $180,000,000. Meanwhile, there will be no evidence justifying 

2 this work having been performed after the contract is signed. 

3 Words or words connected with a particular peculiar trade are to be given 

4 significance as that which is called for in the custom in the industry. Moran v. Prather, 23 

5 Wall (U.S.) 492 (1874). Usage or custom in a trade is to be considered in interpreting a 

6 contract when the language is embodied in the contract. Restatement of Contracts 2d, 

7 §222. 

8 The Supreme Court in Galardi v. Naples, 129 Nev.Adv.Op. 33 (May 2013), observed 

9 that a contract is ambiguous if the terms may reasonably be interpreted in more than one 

10 way. It also went on to observe custom and practice can be considered by the trial court 

II in determining whether the contract provisions have an inherent ambiguity. Restatement 

12 of Contracts 2d, §220, Comment 0 (1981). The Court went on to observe "ambiguity is not 

13 required before evidence of trade usage ... can be used to ascertain or illuminate contract 

14 terms." !.Q_, 

15 Custom and Usage may be used to establish the terms of a contract. Warrington 

16 v. Empey. 95 Nev. 136, 590 P.2d 1162 (1979). The Supreme Court recognized in Bianchi 

17 v. Maggini, 17 Nev. 322 (1883) that custom in the industry controls the obligations of the 

18 parties. 

19 

20 

2. Court's order granting partial· summary judgment addressed the 
argument of fair market value of services. 

21 Step pan filed a motion for partial summary judgment on October 21, 2011 asking 

22 the Court to rule that the measuring stick for the services of the architect is controlled by 

23 NRS 108.222(1)(a) as opposed to NRS 108.222(1)(b). Subsection (b) of the statute 

24 discusses value of the lien to be "amount equal to the fair market value of such work". In 

25 order to eliminate that issue, Steppan filed the motion for partial judgment arguing that the 

26 value of his services is controlled by the fixed fee of the AlA contract not fair market value. 

27 Accordingly, lliescu will present the defense within the parameters of that ruling. In that 

28 same spirit, lliescu will present no legal authorities unless requested by this Court to 
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support its argument that a pre-lien notice was required by NRS 108.226(6) given the 

2 Court's indication in arguments on September 9, 2013 that the issue has already been 

3 adjudicated and resolved by Judge Adams. 

4 3. Action to foreclose a lien. 

5 This action is an action to foreclose a lien. Any judgment to foreclose a mechanic's 

6 lien herein will attach to the property for foreclosure. NRS 1 08.239(1 0). In an early 

7 Nevada Supreme Court case of Rosina v. Trowbridge, 20 Nev. 105, 17 P. 751 (1888), the 

8 Supreme Court observed that legal title to the property was in the name of the partnership 

9 but the complaint to foreclose the lien was only against some of the partners in the 

I 0 partnership. Notwithstanding, the foreclosure of the lien could be enforced against those 

11 named Defendants who have an interest in the subject property. Accordingly, any 

12 judgment for foreclosure of the mechanic's lien herein will be a judgment to foreclose 

13 against the subject property. 

14 The evidence will demonstrate that the mechanic's lien was recorded on November 

15 7, 2006. The lien must be recorded within ninety (90) days of the last performance of work. 

16 NRS 108.226. A lien must then be served within thirty (30) days after the recording. NRS 

17 1 08.227. Lawsuit to foreclose the lien must commence within six (6) months after the date 

18 on which the lien has been recorded. NRS 108.233. After the conclusion of the case, the 

19 Court can issue a judgment for foreclosure against the property. NRS 108.239. Since the 

20 mechanic's lien impacts the property described herein, any judgment is to be to that 

21 property. 

22 D. SCHEDULE OF EXHIBITS 

23 A summary schedule of exhibits has been prepared and jointly agreed upon by 

24 counsel. 

25 E. NAME AND ADDRESSES OF WITNESSES 

26 1. John lliescu, Jr., c/o C. Nicholas Pereos, Ltd., 1610 Meadow Wood Lane, 

27 Ste, 202, Reno, NV 89502. 

28 Ill 
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1 2. Sonnia lliescu, cfo C. Nicholas Pereos, Ltd., 1610 Meadow Wood Lane, Ste, 

2 202, Reno, NV 89502. 

3 3. Karen Dennison, c/o Holland & Hart, 5441 Kietzke Lane, 2nd Floor Reno, 

4 Nevada 89509. 

5 4. R. Craig Howard, c/o Holland & Hart, 5441 Kietzke Lane, 2nd Floor Reno, 

6 Nevada 89509. 

7 5. Richard Johnson, The Johnson Group, 5255 Longley Lane, Reno, Nevada 

8 89511; 10631 Professional Circle, #A, Reno, Nevada 89521. 

9 

10 

6. 

7. 

Sam Caniglia, 512 101
h Street, Sacramento, CA 95814 

John Schneilling, c/o of Gregory Wilson, Esq., 1495 Ridgeview Drive, Suite 

11 120, Reno, NV 89519. 

12 

13 

8. 

9. 

Joseph S. Campbell, 2820 Erminia Road, Suite 101, Reno, Nevada 89523. 

Donald J. Clark, 250 Bell Street, Reno, Nevada 89503. 

CERTIFICATION 14 F. 

15 Counsel certifies that discovery has been completed and that they have met and 

16 conferred to discuss settlement. 

17 

18 The undersigned affirms that the foregoing pleading does not contain a social 

19 security number. 

20 DATED this J-day of December, 2013. 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 
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1 CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE BY MAIL 

2 

3 PURSUANT TO NEVADA RULES OF CIVIL PROCEDURE 5 (b), I certify that I am 

4 an employee of C. NICHOLAS PEREOS, LTD., and that on this date, I deposited for 

5 mailing at Reno, Nevada, a true copy of the foregoing document addressed to: 

6 
Michael Hoy, Esq. 

7 HOY CHRISSINGER KIMMEL P.C. 
50 W. Liberty Street, Suite 840 

8 Reno, NV 89501 
775/786-8000 

9 Attorney for Mark Steppan 

10 

11 

12 DATED: \) -d--\) 
13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

~s 
Sandra Martinez 
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Claimed Facts 
1. At!all!relevant!times,!John!Iliescu,!Jr.!and!Sonnia!Iliescu,!individually!or!as!

trustees!of!the!John!Iliescu,!Jr.!and!Sonnia!Iliescu!1992!Family!Trust!Agreement!

(collectively!“Iliescu”)!owned!real!property!situated!in!Washoe!County,!Nevada,!assessor!

parcel!numbers!011P112P03,!011P112P06,!011P112P07,!011P112P12!(the!“Property”).!!The!

parcels!are!more!particularly!described!in!a!Trial!Stipulation!to!be!filed!before!trial.!!!

2. The!Property!consists!of!four!adjacent!parcels,!which!are!bounded!by!Island!

Avenue!on!the!north!and!Court!Street!on!the!south.!!!!

3. Iliescu!held!the!Property!for!investment,!and!with!the!intent!to!market!the!

property!for!development.!!Iliescu!engaged!real!estate!broker!Richard!Johnson!(“Johnson”)!

to!market!the!property.!

4. Before!2005,!Iliescu!had!received!proposals!to!sell!the!Property!to!

developers.!

5. On!or!about!July!14,!2005,!Sam!A.!Caniglia,!a!principal!in!Consolidated!Pacific!

Development,!Inc.!(“Consolidated”),!sent!Johnson!a!written!proposal!to!buy!the!Property!

from!Iliescu.!![Exhibits!66,!67].!

6. Following!further!negotiations,!on!or!about!August!3,!2005,!Consolidated!and!

Iliescu!signed!a!Land!Purchase!Agreement.!![Exhibit!68]!!At!the!same!time,!the!parties!

signed!Addendum!No.!1![Exhibit!69]!and!Addendum!No.!2![Exhibit!70]!to!the!Land!

Purchase!Agreement.!

7. Addendum!No.!2!to!the!Land!Purchase!Agreement!provides,!

Both parties agree that the Land Purchase Agreement needs to be fine 
tuned [sic] as to the specifics of the intended agreement before its 
finalization, and that legal clarification and documentation to achieve the 
full intent of both parties is spelled out.  This shall be accomplished as 
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soon as possible within the time constraints of the Buyer, Seller, and legal 
counsel of both parties. 

8. Pursuant!to!Addendum!No.!2!to!the!Land!Purchase!Agreement,!Hale!Lane!

Peek!Dennison!&!Howard!(“Hale!Lane”)!was!engaged!to!review!the!Land!Purchase!

Agreement,!interview!the!parties,!and!draft!another!addendum!to!complete!the!parties’!

contract.!!Karen!Dennison!performed!this!work,!and!drafted!Addendum!No.!3!to!Land!

Purchase!Agreement.!![Exhibit!71]!!!

9. The!Land!Purchase!Agreement,!as!modified!by!Addenda!Nos.!1,!2,!and!3!

provided!for!a!purchase!price!consisting!of!$7,500,000!cash!at!closing!plus!(a)!a!$2,200,000!

credit!towards!a!penthouse!condominium!selected!by!Iliescu!after!construction!drawings!

are!completed,!(b)!an!easement!for!four!parking!spaces!for!personal!use,!(c)!500!square!

feet!of!storage!space,!and!(d)!an!easement!for!fiftyPone!contiguous,!groundPlevel!parking!

spaces!for!Iliescu!to!use!for!the!development!and!operation!of!Iliescu’s!adjacent!medical!

building,!which!Iliescu!intended!to!convert!to!a!restaurant!or!other!commercial!operation.!

10. The!Land!Purchase!Agreement,!as!modified!by!Addenda!Nos.!1,!2,!and!3!

provided!that!closing!would!be!delayed!while!Consolidated!sought!development!

entitlements,!and!that!Iliescu!would!receive!nonPrefundable!deposits!during!this!period.!!

The!deposits!were!as!follows:!

Initial deposit ................................................................................... $25,000.00 
Within 30 days from August 3, 2005 ............................................... $75,000.00 
Within 90 days from August 3, 2005 ............................................. $100,000.00 
Within 150 days from August 3, 2005 ........................................... $100,000.00 
Within 210 days from August 3, 2005 ........................................... $100,000.00 
Within 270 days from August 3, 2005 ........................................... $100,000.00  
Total advance deposits ................................................................. $500,000.00 
Balance at close of escrow ........................................................ $7,000,000.00 
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11. Addendum!No.!3!specifically!contemplated!that,!prior!to!close!of!escrow!and!

transfer!of!title,!the!Property!might!be!encumbered!by!mechanics!liens.!!The!parties!agreed:!

Buyer agrees to keep the Property free from all liens and to indemnify, 
defend and hold harmless Seller, and its successors and assigns, from 
any against any and all claims, actions, losses, liabilities, damages, costs 
and expenses (including, but not limited to, attorneys’ fees, charges and 
disbursements) incurred, suffered by, or claimed against Seller by 
reason of any work performed with respect to the Property at the 
instance or request of Buyer or any damage to the Property or injury to 
persons caused by Buyer and/or its agents, employees or contractors 
arising out of or in any way connection with their entry upon the Property 
and/or the performance of any inspections, tests or other activities 
thereon.  Buyer’s obligations under this paragraph shall survive the 
Closing or termination of the Agreement. 

Addendum!No.!3![Exhibit!71],!page!2,!¶!5!(emphasis!added).!

12. At!all!times!relevant!to!this!litigation,!Mark!B.!Steppan,!AIA!(“Steppan”)!was!

licensed!by!the!State!of!Nevada!as!a!Registered!Architect.!

13. In!1979,!the!University!of!California!(Berkeley)!conferred!upon!Steppan!a!

bachelor!of!arts!degree!in!architecture.!!Following!examinations!and!practical!work!in!the!

profession,!Steppan!was!first!registered!as!an!architect!in!approximately!1987.!!!

14. Steppan!began!working!for!Fisher!Friedman!Associates!(“FFA”)!during!

college,!worked!full!time!for!FFA!in!January!1980,!and!continued!to!work!for!FFA!at!all!

times!relevant!to!this!case.!!Steppan!was!an!executive!vice!president!of!FFA,!and!had!

management!duties!as!well!as!professional!architecture!duties.!!!

15. As!of!October!1,!2005,!Rodney!Friedman,!FAIA,!was!the!most!senior!architect!

at!FFA.!!Steppan!was!the!second!most!senior!architect!employed!by!FFA.!

16. In!October,!2005,!Consolidated!approached!FFA!to!discuss!a!multiPuse!

development!for!the!Property!in!Reno.!!!
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17. Following!some!preliminary!negotiations,!on!October!25,!2005,!Steppan!sent!

a!proposal!to!Consolidated!proposing!to!perform!the!design!work!for!a!fee!of!5.75!percent!

of!the!estimated!construction!cost.!![Exhibit!9]!!At!the!time!of!the!October!25,!2005!

proposal,!the!parties!did!not!have!a!budget!for!anticipated!construction!costs.!!!

18. It!is!ordinary!and!customary!in!architecture!to!specify!a!fee!based!upon!a!

percentage!of!construction!costs.!

19. Steppan’s!October!25,!2005!proposal!letter!also!proposed!using!an!American!

Institute!of!Architects!(“AIA”)!standard!form!B141!as!the!basis!for!a!design!contract!for!the!

proposed!project.!!Thus,!Exhibit!9!includes!the!transmittal!of!this!standard!form.!

20. The!scope!of!the!proposed!project!was!much!too!large!to!be!designed!and!

coordinated!by!a!single!individual.!!Consolidated,!Steppan,!and!FFA!discussed,!understood,!

and!agreed!that!Steppan!(as!a!Nevada!registered!architect)!would!maintain!“direct!

supervision”!and!“responsible!control”!of!the!design!process,!and!that!FFA!(an!architecture!

firm!in!which!Steppan!was!an!officer!and!employee)!would!be!a!design!consultant!

responsible!for!much!of!the!design!work.!

21. !After!Steppan!sent!the!October!25,!2005!proposal!letter!to!Consolidated,!

Consolidated!submitted!the!B141!form!to!Hale!Lane!for!review.!!!A!Hale!Lane!lawyer!named!

Sarah!Class!identified!areas!of!concern!to!Consolidated!in!several!written!memoranda!

dated!in!November,!2005.!![Exhibits!10,!11,!12]!!Consolidated!shared!these!concerns!with!

Steppan,!who!responded!in!writing!on!December!20,!2005.!![Exhibit!13]!

22. After!December!20,!2005,!Consolidated!and!Steppan!continued!to!discuss!

several!concerns!about!the!form!of!the!design!contract.!!They!started!drafting!an!addendum!

to!make!changes!to!the!standard!AIA!form.!!In!a!March!24,!2006!letter,!Steppan!wrote!that!
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Steppan!would!“Implement!the!minor!agreed!to!Addendum!1!Agreement!items!and!

investigate!the!three!items!pending!resolution!for!consequential!damages,!successors!and!

assigns!and!termination!expenses.”!![Exhibit!17]!

23. Effective!October!31,!2005,!BSC!Financial,!LLC!c/o!Consolidated!Pacific!

Development!(“Developer”)!and!Steppan!entered!into!a!Standard!Form!of!Agreement!

Between!Owner!and!Architect!(“Design!Agreement”).!![Exhibit!6].!!The!signatures!on!the!

Design!Agreement!are!not!dated.!

24. On!or!about!April!21,!2006,!Developer!and!Steppan!signed!Addendum!No.!1!

to!the!Design!Agreement.!![Exhibit!7]!!!

25. While!the!Design!Agreement!was!under!review!by!Hale!Lane,!on!December!

14,!2005!Consolidated!and!Iliescu!signed!a!letter!acknowledging!Hale!Lane’s!joint!

representation!of!Consolidated!and!Iliescu,!and!waiving!the!conflict!of!interest.!![Exhibit!8].!

26. Before!Consolidated!and!Iliescu!signed!the!waiver!of!conflict!letter,!Hale!Lane!

knew!that!Consolidated/Developer!had!engaged!Steppan!to!provide!design!services!with!

respect!to!the!Property,!and!that!those!design!services!could!result!in!a!lien!on!the!

Property.!

27. When!Consolidated!entered!into!the!Land!Purchase!Agreement!with!Iliescu,!

the!Property!was!endowed!with!zoning!favorable!to!highPrise!development.!!That!zoning!

was!about!to!expire!in!early!2006.!!It!was!therefore!important!to!submit!applications!to!the!

City!of!Reno!for!development!entitlements!before!the!current!zoning!expired.!

28. Steppan!and!FFA!started!work!on!the!design!before!Developer!and!Steppan!

signed!the!form!Design!Agreement.!!The!design!work!commenced!under!a!letter!agreement!

dated!November!15,!2005.!![Exhibit!14].!!!While!the!formal!Design!Agreement!was!under!
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review!by!Hale!Lane,!Steppan!issued!three!Design!Services!Continuation!Letters!on!

December!14,!2005![Exhibit!15],!February!7,!2006![Exhibit!16],!and!March!24,!2006!

[Exhibit!17].!!These!letters!were!designed!to!confirm!that!Steppan!and!FFA!were!

authorized!to!continue!performing!work!on!a!design!for!the!Property.!

29. Pursuant!to!the!November!15,!2005!Architectural!Design!Services!

Agreement,!Steppan!and!FFA!invoiced!for!services!provided!based!on!hourly!rates.!!These!

invoices!show!project!identification!as!0515P01.!![Exhibit!24]!!!

30. After!Developer!and!Steppan!signed!the!Design!Agreement,!which!specifies!a!

fee!expressed!as!a!percentage!of!the!estimated!and!actual!construction!costs,!with!progress!

payments!based!on!a!percentage!of!completion!of!certain!phases!of!the!design!work,!

Steppan!and!FFA!began!invoicing!for!the!work!on!a!percentage!of!completion!basis!per!the!

Design!Agreement.!![Exhibit!25].!!The!invoices!provided!a!credit!back!to!Developer!for!

payments!received!based!on!the!earlier!invoices!for!hourly!billing.!

31. Steppan!and!FFA!also!performed!work!that!was!in!addition!to!the!work!

specified!in!the!Design!Agreement.!!This!work!was!performed!at!the!Developer’s!direction!

and!with!the!Developer’s!approval,!and!pursuant!to!written!letter!agreements.!!These!letter!

agreements!authorized!work!for!building!massing!models![Exhibit!19],!study!of!parking!for!

the!adjacent!church![Exhibit!20],!studies!to!answer!questions!posed!by!the!City!of!Reno!

Planning!Commission!staff![Exhibit!21]!and!to!create!a!video!flyPthrough!of!a!computerized!

rendering!of!downtown!Reno!buildings,!streets,!geologic!features,!and!the!improvements!

proposed!for!the!Property.!![Exhibit!22]!!!

32. Work!for!each!classification!of!additional!work!was!billed!separately,!on!an!

hourly!basis.!![Exhibits!27P30].!!!

JA1173



!

Trial!Statement!
Page 7 of 29!

1!

2!

3!

4!

5!

6!

7!

8!

9!

10!

11!

12!

13!

14!

15!

16!

17!

18!

19!

20!

21!

22!

23!

24!

25!

!

H
o
y
 |

 C
H

R
IS

S
IN

G
E
R

 |
 K

IM
M

E
L
 

33. Pursuant!to!both!the!Design!Agreement!and!the!November!15,!2005!letter!

agreement,!Steppan!and!FFA!also!billed!for!reimbursable!expenses.!![Exhibit!26]!

34. The!Developer!hired!a!civil!engineering!and!planning!firm!called!Wood!

Rodgers!to!prepare!applications!to!the!City!of!Reno!to!obtain!development!entitlements!for!

the!Property.!!David!Snelgrove!was!an!employee!of!Wood!Rodgers,!and!coordinated!much!

of!the!applications, meetings with the City of Reno staff, and with Steppan and FFA.  !

35. The Developer also hired Solaegui Engineers, Ltd. to provide a Traffic Analysis 

for the proposed project.!![Exhibits!114,!115,!117]!!

36. The!Developer!also!hired!Pezzonella!Associates,!Inc.!to!provide!a!

geotechnical!engineering!report!on!the!Property.!!

37. On!January!17,!2006,!Consolidated!submitted!a!“Special!Use!Permit!

Application”!to!the!City!of!Reno.!![Exhibit!35]!!The!Special!Use!Permit!Application!includes!

elevations,!site!plans,!floor!plans,!and!other!designs!by!Steppan!and!FFA.!

38. The!Special!Use!Permit!Application!includes!the!following!affidavit!signed!by!

John!Iliescu,!Jr.!and!Sonnia!Iliescu:!!“I!am!an!owner!of!property/authorized!agent!involved!

in!this!petition!and!that!I!authorize!Sam$Caniglia!to!request!development!related!

applications!on!my!property.”!![Exhibit!35,!page!STEPPAN!2368,!2369]!

39. On!February!7,!2006,!Consolidated!submitted!a!“Tentative!Map!&!Special!Use!

Permit!Application”!to!the!City!of!Reno.!![Exhibit!36]!!This!application!superseded!the!

January!17,!2006!application.!!The!Special!Use!Permit!Application!includes!elevations,!site!

plans,!floor!plans,!and!other!designs!by!Steppan!and!FFA.!

40. The!Tentative!Map!Application!includes!the!following!affidavit!signed!by!John!

Iliescu,!Jr.!and!Sonnia!Iliescu:!!“I!am!an!owner!of!property/authorized!agent!involved!in!this!
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petition!and!that!I!authorize!Sam$Caniglia$of$Consolidated$Pacific$Development!to!

request!development!related!applications!on!my!property.”!![Exhibit!36,!page!STEPPAN!

2521,!2522]!

41. After!the!February!7,!2006!Tentative!Map!Application,!Consolidated!changed!

the!design!of!the!proposed!project,!and!compiled!an!amended!application.!![Exhibit!37].!!

Originally,!the!Developer!proposed!a!project!with!390!residential!units,!550!parking!spaces,!

and!office!and!commercial!space.!!In!the!February!7,!2006!Tentative!Map!Application,!the!

Developer!proposed!394!residential!units!and!550!parking!spaces.!!In!the!subsequent!

amendments,!the!Developer!proposed!499!residential!units!and!824!parking!spaces.!

42. In!order!to!increase!the!number!of!residential!units!from!390!to!499,!the!

Developer!did!not!change!the!footprint!or!height!of!the!proposed!improvements.!!Instead,!

the!Developer!changed!the!mix!of!the!type!of!units,!substituting!more!studio!and!oneP

bedroom!units!for!twoP!and!threePbedroom!units.!!This!also!increased!the!statutory!parking!

requirements,!which!required!the!Developer!and!Steppan/FFA!to!redesign!the!parking!

garage!to!include!car!lifts.!

43. On!or!about!May!15,!2006,!the!Developer!submitted!a!Revised!Tentative!Map.!!

[Exhibit!38]!!This!revised!tentative!map!shows!499!residential!units.!!Although!the!Revised!

Tentative!Map!is!printed!on!Wood!Rodgers!plan!sheets,!all!of!the!architectural!design!was!

created!by!Steppan!and!FFA.!!The!sheets!for!the!grading!and!utility!plans!are!signed!and!

sealed!by!Steven!P.!Strickland,!a!professional!engineer!employed!by!Wood!Rodgers.!

44. Steppan!and!other!FFA!employees!attended!meetings!with!City!of!Reno!staff,!

Reno!neighborhood!advisory!boards,!the!Reno!Planning!Commission,!and!the!Reno!City!

Council!to!explain!and!promote!the!design!for!the!Property.!!Steppan!and!FFA!also!
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prepared!numerous!renderings,!computer!models,!a!Powerpoint!presentation![Exhibits!40,!

41],!a!video!flyPthrough![Exhibit!42],!shadow!studies![Exhibits!54,!55]!and!other!

presentation!materials.!!These!presentation!materials!were!wellPreceived!by!the!City!of!

Reno!and!the!community,!and!materially!contributed!to!approval!of!the!application!for!a!

tentative!map!for!the!Property.!

45. John!Iliescu,!Jr.!and!Richard!Johnson!also!attended!neighborhood!advisory!

board!meetings!and!meetings!of!the!Reno!Planning!Commission!and!Reno!City!Council.!!

They!both!knew!that!Steppan!and!FFA!were!providing!architectural!design!services!and!

presentation!services!in!aid!of!the!application!for!development!entitlements.!!

46. On!October!4,!2006,!the!Reno!Planning!Commission!recommended!approval!

of!the!special!use!permit!and!tentative!map!for!the!Property.!![Exhibit!47]!

47. On!November!15,!2006,!the!Reno!City!Council!upheld!the!recommendation!of!

the!Planning!Commission,!and!approved!the!special!use!permit!and!tentative!map!for!the!

Property.!![Exhibit!48]!

48. John!Iliescu,!Jr.!and!Richard!Johnson!both!attended!the!November!15,!2006!

Reno!City!Council!meeting!with!Rodney!Friedman!of!FFA,!as!well!as!subsequent!party!to!

celebrate!the!City!Council’s!approval!of!the!Special!Use!Permit!and!Tentative!Map.!!

49. The!Design!Agreement!(a)!specifies!a!fee!equal!to!5.75!percent!of!the!

estimated!construction!costs!and!(b)!states!that!the!estimated!construction!costs!are!$180!

million.!!Therefore,!the!total!fee!(subject!to!reconciliation!for!actual!construction!costs)!is!

$10,350,000.!!!
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50. The!Design!Agreement!allocates!20!percent!of!the!fee!to!the!Schematic!

Design!phase!of!the!work.!!The!Design!Agreement!defines!the!Schematic!Design!to!include!

City!of!Reno!entitlements.!

51. Steppan!and!FFA!made!progress!on!the!Schematic!Design!starting!in!2005.!!

Starting!May!18,!2006,!Steppan!and!FFA!invoiced!for!progress!on!the!Schematic!Design!

phase!as!follows:!

May 18, 2006 23.25% $481,275 
June 20, 2006 23.25% $481,275 
July 19, 2005 28.10% $581,670 
August 23, 2006 44.63% $923,841 
September 21, 2006 61.16% $1,266,012 
October 25, 2006 77.69% $1,608,183 
November 21, 2006 100.00% $2,070,000 
 

52. As!a!result!of!the!grant!of!the!Tentative!Map!application!on!November!15,!

2006,!the!Schematic!Design!was!100!percent!complete.!!

53. Steppan!and!FFA!received!no!objections!to!the!progress!billings!for!

Schematic!Design.!

54. As!a!result!of!the!City!of!Reno!entitlements,!the!Property!value!was!

immediately!enhanced.!!In!fact,!on!February!23,!2007,!appraiser!William!G.!Kimmel!

appraised!the!Property!with!the!entitlements!at!$30!million.!![Exhibit!93]!

55. Iliescu!understood!that!the!Property!value!was!enhanced!because!of!the!

entitlements!approved!by!the!City!of!Reno.!!Iliescu!applied!to!the!City!of!Reno!to!extend!the!

entitlements!by!delaying!the!deadline!for!recordation!of!a!final!subdivision!map.!!The!initial!

application![Exhibit!49]!was!approved!on!November!24,!2008![Exhibit!50],!extending!the!

filing!deadline!to!2010.!!The!second!application![Exhibit!51]!was!granted!on!October!13,!

2010![Exhibit!53],!extending!the!filing!deadline!by!one!more!year.!!!
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56. While!the!Tentative!Map!&!Special!Use!Permit!Application!was!pending!with!

the!City!of!Reno,!on!or!about!September!18,!2006,!Consolidated!and!Iliescu!executed!

Addendum!No.!4!to!the!Land!Purchase!Agreement.!![Exhibit!72]!!In!Addendum!No.!4,!the!

parties!agreed!to!a!$376,000!“Additional!Extension!Deposit”!to!be!paid!$365,000!to!Iliescu!

and!$11,000!to!Johnson!to!extend!the!closing!date!to!April!25,!2007.!!

57. On!November!7,!2006,!Steppan!recorded!a!Notice!and!Claim!of!Lien!as!

Document!No.!3460499.!![Exhibit!1]!!!

58. The!Notice!and!Claim!of!Lien!was!served!on!Iliescu!within!30!days.!!NRS!

108.227(1).!

59. In!April,!2007,!Iliescu,!Consolidated,!and!other!parties!prepared!to!close!

escrow!on!the!Land!Purchase!Agreement.!!!The!original!buyer,!Consolidated,!assigned!its!

rights!under!the!Land!Purchase!Agreement!to!its!affiliate,!BSC!Investments,!LLC.!![Exhibit!

88].!!!BSC!Investments,!LLC!(“BSC”)!then!entered!into!a!Purchase!and!Sale!Agreement!and!

Joint!Escrow!Instructions!to!sell!the!Property,!along!with!the!development!entitlements,!to!

a!new!company!called!Wingfield!Towers,!LLC!(“Wingfield”).!![Exhibit!82].!!!

60. Under!the!Iliescu!–!Consolidated!Land!Purchase!Agreement,!as!modified!by!

Addenda!Nos.!1!through!4,!the!purchase!price!to!be!paid!to!Iliescu!was!$7,878,000.!!Exhibit!

72]!!Under!the!BSC!–!Wingfield!Purchase!and!Sale!Agreement,!the!purchase!price!to!be!paid!

to!BSC!Investments!was!$24,282,000.!![Exhibit!82]!!The!parties,!Hale!Lane,!First!Centennial!

Title!Company,!and!Ticor!Title!of!Nevada,!Inc.!prepared!for!a!“double!closing”!so!that!

proceeds!from!the!BSCPWingfield!transaction!would!be!paid!into!the!IliescuPConsolidated!

escrow!to!effectuate!the!transfer!of!the!Property!title.!
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61. !As!part!of!the!preparation!for!close!of!escrow,!First!Centennial!Title!sent!

Steppan’s!attorney!a!request!for!a!payoff!of!the!Mechanic’s!Lien:!!“I!have!been!instructed!to!

pay!your!demand!for!the!Claim!of!Lien!filed!11/7/06!as!document!No.!3460499,!Washoe!

County!Nevada!Official!Records!involving!property!owned!by!John!Iliescu,!et!al!for!work!

performed!for!DeCal!Homes,!or!one!of!their!subsidiaries….!!We!ask!that!you!complete!and!

sign!the!requested!information!below,!and!sign!and!have!notarized!the!Lien!Release!

enclosed.”!!Exhibit!89.!!As!requested,!Steppan!signed!and!returned!the!payoff!demand.!!

[Exhibit!99]!!As!requested,!Steppan’s!counsel!signed!and!tendered!a!Discharge!or!Release!of!

Notice!of!Lien!to!escrow.!![Exhibit!106]!!!

62. The!April!2007!“double!escrow”!never!closed.!!Although!the!parties!had!

signed!deeds,!memoranda,!and!releases![Exhibits!105P108]!the!documents!were!never!

recorded,!title!never!transferred,!and!funds!were!never!disbursed!per!the!estimated!closing!

statements.!![Exhibit!104]!

63. After!the!April!2007!“double!escrow”!failed,!Steppan!recorded!an!Amended!

Notice!and!Claim!of!Lien!on!May!3,!2007!as!document!3528313,!official!records!of!the!

Washoe!County!Recorder.!![Exhibit!2]!!The!original!lien!amount!was!$1,783,548.85.!!The!

amended!lien!amount!was!increased!to!$1,939,347.51!to!include!accrued!interest.!

64. Even!though!the!April!2007!transaction!never!closed,!by!September!25,!2007!

Iliescu!had!received!at!least!$1,176,000!in!nonPrefundable!deposits!under!the!Land!

Purchase!Agreement!as!amended.!![Exhibit!102]!

65. Effective!December!2,!2007,!Iliescu!and!Consolidated!entered!into!Addendum!

No.!5!to!the!Land!Purchase!Agreement.!![Exhibit!73]!!!Under!Addendum!No.!5,!Iliescu!

agreed!to!extend!close!of!escrow!to!December!12,!2007!in!consideration!of!a!price!
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accretion!of!$100,000,!with!the!immediate!transfer!of!$100,000!in!water!rights.!!Addendum!

No.!5!also!increased!Iliescu’s!credit!towards!a!penthouse!condominium!from!$2,200,000!to!

$3,000,000.!!!

66. On!November!8,!2013,!Steppan!recorded!a!Second!Amended!Notice!and!

Claim!of!Lien.!![Exhibit!3]!!The!corrected!lien!seeks!$1,755,229.99!in!principal.!!!Through!

December!9,!2013,!Steppan!seeks!$2,243,638.83!in!accrued!interest.!![Exhibit!5]!

Admitted or Undisputed Facts 
! Through!counsel,!the!parties!have!filed!a!separate!trial!stipulation!setting!forth!

agreed!facts.!

Memorandum of Legal Points and Authorities 

1.$ Introduction$

! This!trial!follows!an!evidentiary!hearing!and!several!motions!for!partial!summary!

judgment.!!At!the!outset!of!the!case,!Iliescu!argued!that!Steppan!failed!to!perfect!the!

mechanics!lien!because!he!did!not!give!a!prePlien!notice.!!This!Court!disagreed,!ruling!that!

Iliescu!had!actual!knowledge!that!Steppan!and!FFA!were!performing!architectural!services,!

so!that!no!prePlien!notice!was!required!under!Fondren'v.'K/L'Complex,'Ltd.,!106!Nev.!705,!

800!P.2d!719!(1990).!!Order,!June!22,!2009.!!This!Court!further!held!that,!pursuant!to!NRS!

108.222(1),!Steppan’s!mechanics!lien!“secures!the!fixed!fee!specified!in!Lien!Claimant’s!

written!contract.”!!Order,!May!5,!2013.!!Therefore,!Plaintiff!Steppan!contends!that!the!only!

issue!remaining!for!trial!is!the!computation!of!the!principal!and!interest!due!pursuant!to!

Steppan’s!written!contract.!

! Iliescu!does!not!share!Steppan’s!vision!of!the!scope!of!this!trial.!!Iliescu!has!signaled!

an!intention!to!rePlitigate!issues!that!are!already!decided.!!For!example,!Iliescu!continues!to!
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protest!that,!while!Iliescu!was!aware!that!some'design!professionals!were!involved!with!the!

development!entitlements!for!the!Property,!Iliescu!was!not!aware!of!the!particular!

architects!involved.!!Iliescu!has!recently!developed!a!new!theory!that!Steppan’s!right!to!

receive!a!fee!for!design!work!was!somehow!contingent!on!actual!construction!of!the!

improvements!designed.!!Iliescu!further!argues!that!the!lien!claimant!can!only!recover!up!

to!the!liquidation!value!of!the!Property,!and!cannot!obtain!a!personal!judgment!against!the!

landowner.!!These!legal!issues!are!discussed!below.!

2.$ Statutory$mechanics$lien$procedure$

! NRS!108.239!sets!forth!procedures!for!actions!to!foreclose!mechanics!liens.!!The!

Court!must!determine!the!amount!of!the!lien,!then!“cause!the!property!to!be!sold!in!

satisfaction!of!liens!and!the!costs!of!sale…”!!NRS!108.239(10).!!The!statute!further!

prescribes!that!a!judgment!creditor!may!cause!the!property!to!be!sold!in!the!same!manner!

provided!for!sales!of!real!property!pursuant!to!writs!of!execution.!!Id.!!Exhibit!1!to!this!Trial!

Statement!is!a!proposed!form!of!judgment!to!comply!with!this!statute.!

! If!the!proceeds!from!the!sale!exceed!the!amount!of!the!judgment,!the!surplus!is!paid!

to!the!property!owner.!!NRS!108.239(11).!!If!the!proceeds!from!the!sale!do!not!satisfy!the!

amount!of!the!judgment,!then!the!judgment!creditor!is!entitled!to!personal!judgment!

against!the!property!owner!for!the!deficiency!(or!“residue”)!if!the!property!owner!has!been!

personally!summoned!or!appeared!in!the!action.!!NRS!108.239(12).!!!Steppan!therefore!

contends!that!the!Court!should!order!a!sale!of!the!Property.!!If!the!net!sale!proceeds!are!

less!than!the!monetary!amount!of!the!judgment,!Steppan!must!then!apply!to!the!Court!for!a!

personal!judgment!against!Iliescu.!
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3.$ Amount$of$the$lien$

! The!amount!of!the!lien!is!comprised!of!these!components:!!(a)!the!principal!amount!

[determined!under!NRS!108.222],!(b)!prejudgment!interest![NRS!108.237(2)],!(c)!the!cost!

of!preparing!and!recording!the!notice!of!lien![NRS!108.237(1)],!(d)!“the!costs!of!the!

proceedings,!including!without!limitation,!reasonable!attorney’s!fees,!the!costs!for!

representation!of!the!lien!claimant!in!the!proceedings”![NRS!108.237(1)],!and!(e)!“any!

other!amounts!as!the!court!may!find!to!be!justly!due!and!owing!to!the!lien!claimant”![NRS!

108.237(1).!!!Each!of!these!elements!is!further!described!below:!

A.$ Principal:$$The$Design$Agreement$clearly$provides$that$the$Architect$
has$earned$a$fee$based$on$the$progress$of$the$work,$and$clearly$
allocates$20$percent$of$the$total$fee$to$the$Schematic$Design$phase.$

! Under!NRS!108.222(1)(a),!if!the!lien!claimant!agreed!“by!contract!or!otherwise,!

upon!a!specific!price!or!method!for!determining!a!specific!price!for!some!or!all!of!the!work”!

then!the!principal!amount!of!the!lien!is!the!unpaid!agreed!price.!!This!Court!previously!held!

that!Steppan’s!mechanics!lien!secures!the!unpaid!balance!due!under!the!Design!Agreement,!

which!specifies!a!fee!based!upon!a!percentage!of!the!estimated!construction!cost.!

! Iliescu!contends!that!the!Design!Agreement!makes!Steppan’s!fee!contingent!on!

actual!construction!of!the!designed!improvements.!!This!legal!argument!is!debunked!below.!
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! In!addition!to!the!Design!Agreement!fee,!Steppan!is!also!entitled!to!recover!(a)!the!

amount!of!reimbursable!expenses!as!specified!in!the!Design!Agreement!and!(b)!hourly!fees!

for!additional!work!that!fell!outside!the!scope!of!the!Design!Agreement.!!According!to!the!

Design!Agreement,!page!10,!§!1.5.4![Exhibit!6,!STEPPAN!7507]!and!the!November!15,!2005!

stopPgap!letter!agreement![Exhibit!14]!reimbursable!expenses!are!to!be!repaid!with!a!15!

percent!markPup.!!!Fees!for!work!outside!the!scope!of!the!Design!Agreement!are!based!on!

agreed!hourly!rates.!!Design!Agreement,!page!10,!§!1.5.2![Exhibit!6,!STEPPAN!7507];!

additional!work!letters![Exhibits!19P22].!

B.$ Prejudgment$interest$

! Under!NRS!108.237(2)!controls!the!computation!of!prejudgment!interest!to!include!

the!lien.!!Interest!is!calculated!based!upon:!!

(a)!The!rate!of!interest!agreed!upon!in!the!lien!claimant’s!contract;!or!!

(b)!If!a!rate!of!interest!is!not!provided!in!the!lien!claimant’s!contract,!interest!
at!a!rate!equal!to!the!prime!rate!at!the!largest!bank!in!Nevada,!as!ascertained!

by!the!Commissioner!of!Financial!Institutions,!on!January!1!or!July!1,!as!the!
case!may!be,!immediately!preceding!the!date!of!judgment,!plus!4!percent,!on!

the!amount!of!the!lien!found!payable.!The!rate!of!interest!must!be!adjusted!

accordingly!on!each!January!1!and!July!1!thereafter!until!the!amount!of!the!
lien!is!paid.!

Interest!is!payable!from!the!date!on!which!the!payment!is!found!to!have!been!

due,!as!determined!by!the!court.!
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The!Design!Agreement!provides!that!unpaid!invoices!accrue!interest,!beginning!30!days!

after!the!invoice,!at!the!rate!of!“1!&!½!%!monthly.”!!Design!Agreement,!page!10,!§1.5.8!

[Exhibit!6,!STEPPAN!7507].!!Arguably,!the!interest!is!compounded!monthly.!!To!simplify!the!

interest!computation,!Steppan!claims!simple!interest!on!the!Design!Agreement!fees!at!18!

percent!per!annum.!!For!reimbursable!expenses,!Steppan!claims!interest!based!on!the!legal!

rate!of!interest!specified!in!NRS!108.237(2)(b).!!The!prejudgment!interest!computation!

through!December!9,!2013!is!set!forth!in!Exhibit!5.!

C.$ Attorney$fees$and$costs$ $
! A!lien!claimant!is!entitled!to!recover!attorney!fees!to!prepare!and!record!the!lien,!as!

well!as!all!of!the!fees!incurred!to!represent!the!lien!claimant!in!the!foreclosure!proceeding.!!

NRS!108.237(1).!!The!lien!claimant!is!also!entitled!to!recover!the!costs!of!the!suit.!!Because!

the!recoverable!attorney!fees!and!costs!will!continue!to!accrue!through!trial,!Steppan!will!

present!costs!and!attorney!fees!by!postPtrial!motion.!

4.$ The$Design$Agreement$does$not$make$payment$of$the$architect’s$
fee$contingent$on$construction$of$the$improvements$on$the$
Property.$$

! The!Design!Agreement![Exhibit!6]!provides!for!the!architect’s!compensation!in!

Article!1.5.!!!

§ 1.5.1 For the Architect’s services as described under Article 1.4, 
compensation shall be computed as follows: 

5.75% of the total construction cost including contractors profit and 
overhead.  Compensation will be billed monthly as a percentage complete 
of each phase with the following assumptions:  SD 20%, DD 22%, CD 
40%, Bid/Negotiate 1% and CA 17%. 

The Total Construction Cost of the project will be evaluated at the 
completion of the project in order to determine final payment for basic 
architectural services.  Any amount over the original estimated Total 
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Construction Cost of approximately $160,000,000 shall be paid for 
architectural services based on the agreed upon 5.75% fee.  Any amount 
under the original estimated Total Construction Cost of approximately 
$160,000,000 shall be credited for architectural services based on the 
agreed upon 5.75% fee…. 

Exhibit!6,!page!9![STEPPANP007506].!!By!Addendum!No.!1,!the!parties!increased!the!

estimated!Total!Construction!Cost!from!$160!million!to!$180!million.!!Exhibit!7,![STEPPANP

007520].!!!!The!Addendum!also!clarifies!that!the!abbreviations!used!in!§!1.5!mean!

Schematic!Design,!Design!Development,!Construction!Documents,!and!Construction!

Administration.!!Exhibit!7,!§!1.5![STEPPANP007521].1!!

! The!mechanics!of!this!compensation!scheme!are!clear:!!the!Architect!is!entitled!to!

bill!monthly!for!progress!under!each!phase.!!Twenty!percent!of!the!overall!fee!is!allocated!

to!Schematic!Design.!!Therefore,!completion!of!50%!of!the!Schematic!Design!phase!entitles!

the!Architect!to!10%!of!the!overall!fee!(50%!x!20%!x!Fee).!!!Under!the!Design!Contract,!

once!the!construction!is!complete,!the!Architect’s!fee!is!increased!or!decreased!based!on!a!

difference!between!the!cost!estimates!and!the!actual!costs!experienced.!!This!reconciliation!

is!made!in!the!Architect’s!final!payment.!

! Iliescu!argues!that!the!Design!Agreement!makes!the!architect’s!right!to!collect!any!

part!of!the!progress!billing!contingent!upon!completion!of!construction.!!The!plain!language!

of!the!Design!Agreement!demonstrates!the!fallacy!of!this!interpretation.!!The!Design!

Agreement!specifies,!

§1.3.8.6  In the event of termination not the fault of the Architect, the 
Architect shall be compensated for services performed prior to 

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
1!! These!phases!of!work!are!described!in!detail!in!Article!2.4!of!the!Design!Agreement.!!

Addendum!No.!1!references!the!American!Institute!of!Architect’s!Handbook!of!

Professional!Practice!to!further!define!the!work!required!under!each!p7521]hase.!!
Addendum!No.!1,!§!1.5.!!!
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termination, together with Reimbursable Expenses then due and all 
Termination Expenses as defined in Section 1.3.8.7. 

§1.3.8.7  Termination Expenses are in addition to compensation for the 
services of the Agreement and include expenses directly attributable to 
termination for which the Architect is not otherwise compensated, plus an 
amount for the Architect’s anticipated profit on the value of the services 
not performed by the Architect. 

Exhibit!6,!page!8![STEPPAN7505].2!!Clearly!the!Architect!is!entitled!to!be!paid!for!work!

performed!before!termination!of!the!contract,!even!if!the!designed!improvements!are!never!

constructed.!!Further,!in!Addendum!No.!1,!the!parties!specifically!provided!for!the!

possibility!that!the!development!would!not!be!built,!providing!that!the!Architect!is!to!

receive!the!portion!of!fixed!fee!allocated!to!the!work!performed,!whether!or!not!the!

improvements!are!ever!built:!!

In the event that Owner chooses not to proceed with the construction of 
the project, the fees associated with retaining said entitlements will be 
paid as incurred in the due course of the project and will be applied to 
aforementioned budgets as defined in the architects scope of work and 
estimated value. 

Exhibit!7,!§!1.5.9.!!!

! Iliescu’s!proposed!construction!of!the!Design!Agreement!is!contrary!to!the!plain!

language!used!by!the!parties!and!vetted!by!Hale!Lane,!joint!legal!counsel!for!both!

Developer!and!Iliescu.!!!If!the!parties!had!intended!Iliescu’s!result,!they!could!have!easily!

provided!that!the!architect!would!not!receive!any!fee!unless!and!until!the!project!was!

completely!constructed.!!!

!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!!
2!! Steppan!does!not!seek!lost!profits!in!this!case,!only!the!contractPspecified!fees!for!

the!Schematic!Design!work!and!the!additional!work!invoiced!on!an!hourly!basis.!
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5.$ When$a$contract$is$unambiguous,$the$Court$must$give$effect$to$the$
language$used$by$the$parties$and$eschew$“construing”$the$contract$
based$on$custom$or$surrounding$circumstances.$

! In!order!to!shoehorn!its!interpretation!of!the!Design!Agreement!into!this!case,!

Iliescu!cites!many!cannons!of!contract!construction.!!!However,!the!rules!of!contract!

interpretation!are!only!useful!when!contracting!parties!have!created!an!ambiguous!

contract.!

! Under!the!parol!evidence!rule,!the!Court!may!not!rely!upon!extrinsic!evidence!to!

interpret!a!contract!unless!the!contract!contains!ambiguities.!!Margrave'v.'Dermody'

Properties,'Inc.,!110!Nev.!824,!829,!878!P.2d!291,!294!(1994).!!The!surrounding!

circumstances!are!relevant!only!when!the!meaning!is!not!clear!from!the!contract!itself.!!See'

NGA'#2'Ltd.'Liab.'Co.'v.'Rains,!113!Nev.!1151,!1158,!946!P.2d!163,!167!(1997).!!A!contract!is!

ambiguous!only!if!it!is!reasonably!susceptible!to!more!than!one!interpretation.!!Agricultural'

Aviation'v.'Clark'County'Board'of'Commissioners,!106!Nev.!396,!398,!794!P.2d!710,!712!

(1990).!!''

! The!Design!Agreement!is!certainly!not!ambiguous,!and!is!not!susceptible!to!the!

interpretation!proposed!by!Iliescu.!!The!contract!clearly!provides!that!the!architect!will!be!

paid!for!the!progress!towards!Schematic!Design,!whether!or!not!the!improvements!are!

ever!constructed.!!!

6.$ The$Court$should$refuse$the$proposed$“industry$custom”$evidence$
proposed$by$Iliescu.$

! Iliescu!does!not!merely!propose!an!interpretation!of!the!Design!Agreement,!but!

further!asserts!that!the!“industry!custom”!is!that!a!developer!typically!would!not!commit!to!

pay!a!fee!based!on!the!percentage!of!the!anticipated!construction!costs!until!the!developer!
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had!arranged!construction!financing.!!This!proposed!evidence!of!industry!custom!would!

directly!contradict!the!express!terms!to!which!Steppan!and!Consolidated!agreed.!!

! Iliescu!has!not!identified!a!witness!to!testify!that!Consolidated!did!not!intend!to!pay!

Steppan!unless!the!improvements!were!built.!!On!the!other!hand,!it!is!undisputed!that!

Steppan!and!FFA!billed!for!percentage!completion!of!Schematic!Design,!that!there!was!no!

objection!to!the!invoices,!and!that!the!parties!intended!to!pay!Steppan!the!entire!lien!

amount!through!the!April!2007!escrow.!

7.$ Iliescu’s$interpretation$of$the$Design$Agreement$is$unreasonable$
and$inconsistent$with$the$parties’$conduct.$

! Steppan!contends!that!the!Design!Agreement!is!unambiguous,!and!therefore!not!

subject!to!interpretation.!!If!the!Court!finds!room!for!interpretation,!it!must!prefer!a!

reasonable!interpretation:!!“An!interpretation!which!results!in!a!fair!and!reasonable!

contract!is!preferable!to!one!that!results!in!a!harsh!and!unreasonable!contract.”!!Dickenson'

v.'State,'Department'of'Wildlife,!110!Nev.!934,!937,!877!P.2d!1059,!1061!(1994).!!It!would!

be!unreasonable!and!harsh!to!interpret!the!Design!Agreement!to!make!payment!of!the!

design!fees!contingent!upon!construction!of!the!improvements.!!The!architect’s!first!task!

was!to!develop!a!Schematic!Design!in!support!of!an!application!to!obtain!development!

entitlements.!!Steppan!and!FFA!achieved!this!goal.!!Steppan!and!FFA!had!no!control!over!

project!financing!or!the!decision!to!proceed!with!construction!or!abandon!that!process.!!

! If!the!Design!Agreement!is!ambiguous,!the!Court!may!also!consider!the!parties’!postP

contract!conduct:!

The!best!approach!for!interpreting!an!ambiguous!contract!is!to!delve!beyond!
its!express!terms!and!“examine!the!circumstances!surrounding!the!parties'!

agreement!in!order!to!determine!the!true!mutual!intentions!of!the!parties.”!
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This!examination!includes!not!only!the!circumstances!surrounding!the!

contract's!execution,!but!also!subsequent!acts!and!declarations!of!the!parties.!

Shelton'v.'Shelton,!119!Nev.!492,!497,!78!P.3d!507,!510!(2003)(footnotes!omitted;!emphasis!

added).!!Here,!the!Developer!never!objected!to!the!lien!claimant’s!invoices.!!When!Iliescu!

was!about!to!close!escrow!in!April,!2007,!the!parties!indicated!that!Steppan’s!lien!would!be!

paid.!!See!Exhibits!98,!99,!106.!!There!was!no!hint!that!Steppan!would!need!to!wait!for!

construction!of!the!improvements!before!payment!was!forthcoming.!!!

8.$ Richard$Johnson’s$knowledge$is$imputed$to$his$principal,$Iliescu.$

! An!agent’s!knowledge!is!imputed!to!the!principal:!

An!agent’s!knowledge!of!matters!within!the!scope!of!his!or!her!authority!is!

imputed!to!the!principal!because!it!is!presumed!that!such!knowledge!will!be!
disclosed!to!the!principal!for!the!principal’s!protection!or!guidance.!!In!other!

words,!principals!are!presumed!to!have!knowledge!of!all!acts!done!and!

declarations!made!by!and!to!their!agents!when!acting!in!relation!to!the!
subject!matter!of!the!agency!and!within!the!scope!of!an!actual!or!apparent!

authority!conferred.!!

3!C.J.S.!Agency!§!547.!Iliescu!engaged!Richard!Johnson!as!a!real!estate!broker!to!market!the!

Property!(and!other!land!owned!by!Iliescu).!!!Mr.!Johnson!dealt!with!the!various!developer!

entities!and!individuals!involved!in!the!purchase!of!the!Property.!!Johnson!was!involved!in!

the!effort!to!obtain!development!entitlements!for!the!Property.!!Mr.!Johnson!was,!

effectively,!Iliescu’s!eyes,!ears,!and!mouth!for!many!dealings!that!are!germane!to!this!

lawsuit.!!Therefore,!Mr.!Johnson’s!knowledge!must!be!imputed!to!Iliescu.!

9.$ Hale$Lane’s$knowledge$is$imputed$to$its$clients,$including$Iliescu.$

! The!attorneyPclient!relationship!is!likewise!a!agentPprincipal!relationship!so!that!the!

attorney’s!knowledge!is!imputed!to!the!client.!!Atkeson'v.'T'&'K'Lands,'LLC,!258!Or.App.!373,!

309!P.3d!188!(2013);!Fitzgerald'v.'State'ex'rel.'Adamson,!987!S.W.2d!534!(Mo.App.!1999).!!!!
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Further,!“It!has!long!been!recognized!that!knowledge!obtained!by!one!member!of!a!firm!of!

lawyers!is!imputed!to!all!the!other!members.”!!Frazier'v.'Superior'Court,!97!Cal.!App.!4th!23,!

30,!118!Cal.!Rptr.!2d!129,!134!(2002).!!Additionally,!the!attorney’s!acts!and!omissions!

within!the!scope!of!the!agency!are!regarded!as!the!client’s!acts!or!omissions.!!Green'v.'

Midland'Mortgage'Company,!342!S.W.3d!686,!691!(Tex.App.!2011).!!!

! Hale!Lane!represented!both!Iliescu!and!the!Developer!with!respect!to!the!Property.!!

See!Exhibit!8!(December!14,!2005!waiver!of!conflict!letter)!and!Exhibit!77!(January!17,!

2007!waiver!of!conflict!letter).!!Hale!Lane!drafted!Addendum!No.!3!to!the!Land!Purchase!

Agreement,!which!included!an!indemnity!against!mechanics!liens!to!protect!Iliescu.!!Exhibit!

71.!!Hale!Lane!studied!the!architectural!design!agreement!proposed!by!Steppan,!and!made!

recommendations!to!Developer.!!Exhibits!10,!11,!12.!!Hale!Lane!drafted!the!December!8,!

2006!Indemnity!Agreement!to!protect!Iliescu!against!Steppan’s!lien.!!Exhibit!76.!!!Hale!Lane!

knew!that!the!Developer!engaged!Steppan!to!provide!architectural!design!to!win!

development!entitlements!for!the!Property,!and!that!knowledge!is!imputed!to!Iliescu.!

10.$ By$statute,$the$Developer$is$Iliescu’s$agent.$

!! NRS!108.22104!provides:!!!

“Agent!of!the!owner”!means!every!architect,!builder,!contractor,!engineer,!

geologist,!land!surveyor,!lessee,!miner,!subcontractor!or!other!person!having!
charge!or!control!of!the!property,!improvement!or!work!of!improvement!of!

the!owner,!or!any!part!thereof.!

The Land Purchase Agreement confers upon Consolidated Pacific Development, Inc. the 

right to seek development entitlements for the Property.  See Addendum No. 3, ¶ 7 

[Exhibit 71].  Further, Iliescu expressly authorized Sam Caniglia, a principal owner of 

Consolidated Pacific Development, to apply for development entitlements on behalf of 
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the Property owners.  [Exhibits 35, 36]   Thus, Consolidated fits squarely within the 

definition of “Agent of the Owner.”  

 Sam Caniglia is also the individual who signed the Design Agreement [Exhibit 6], 

Addendum No. 1 to the Design Agreement [Exhibit 7], and the letter agreements for 

additional work [Exhibits 19, 20, and 21].  Therefore, for purposes of the lien statute, Mr. 

Caniglia and Consolidated are “agents of the owner.”  Caniglia’s knowledge is imputed 

to Iliescu, and Caniglia’s action to engage Steppan to provide design services is binding 

on Iliescu. 

11.$ Developer$and$Steppan$are$competent$to$fix$the$effective$date$of$
their$contract.$

! Iliescu!contends!that!the!Design!Agreement!was!signed!on!or!about!April!21,!2006,!

and!therefore!could!not!control!the!architect’s!compensation!for!work!performed!before!

that!signing.!!But!the!Design!Agreement!specifies!that!the!effective!date!is!October!31,!2005.!!

All!of!the!evidence!is!that!signing!the!Design!Agreement!was!delayed!by!the!lawyers’!

review,!and!that!the!contracting!parties!always!understood!that!the!design!fee!would!be!

5.75!percent!of!the!estimated!construction!cost.!!!

! The!Court!must!enforce!the!effective!date!selected!by!the!contracting!parties:!

We!reiterate!the!longPstanding!observation!of!our!courts!that!the!date!of!

execution!of!a!contract!is!not!necessarily!the!date!of!the!contract.!!“’[I]t!is!
elementary!that!ordinarily!a!contract!speaks!from!the!day!of!its!date,!

regardless!of!when!it!was!executed!and!delivered.’”!![]!!Illinois!courts!have!
permitted!the!“relation!back”!theory!of!contract!effectiveness:!!“that!is,!

contractual!terms!may!be!effective!for!a!period!before!the!contract!is!

executed,!so!long!as!such!coverage!is!clear!from!the!face!of!the!contract.”!![]!
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Asset'Recovery'Contracting,'LLC'v.'Walsh'Const.'Co.'of'Illinois,!2012!IL!App!(1st)!101226,!980!

N.E.2d!708,!724!appeal!denied,!982!N.E.2d!767!(Ill.!2013)(citations!omitted).!!As!the!

Georgia!Supreme!Court!summarized,!

[T]he!effective!date!of!a!contract!is!not!the!date!of!execution!where!the!
contract!expressly!states!that!its!terms!are!to!take!effect!at!an!earlier!date.!!“It!

is!elemental!that!contracting!parties!may!agree!to!give!retroactive!effect…!to!

their!contracts!as!they!see!fit.!![]!!And,!“[i]t!is!fundamental!that!where!parties!
to!an!agreement!expressly!provide!that!a!written!contract!be!entered!into!‘as!

of’!an!earlier!date!than!that!on!which!it!was!executed,!the!agreement!is!
effective!retroactively!‘as!of’!the!earlier!date!and!the!parties!are!bound!

thereby!...”!![]!

Am.'Cyanamid'Co.'v.'Ring,!248!Ga.!673,!674,!286!S.E.2d!1,!3!(1982)(citations!omitted).!

! !

Summaries of Schedules 
! 1.! Exhibit!3,!Steppan’s!Second!Amended!Notice!and!Claim!of!Lien,!contains!

schedules!of!invoices!and!payments!received,!and!a!recapitulation!of!the!principal!amounts!

claimed.!

! 2.! Exhibit!5!is!a!schedule!showing!the!computation!of!prejudgment!interest.!

! 3.! Exhibits!24,!25,!26,!27,!28,!and!29!contain!invoices!by!project!identification.!!

Each!exhibit!contains!a!summary!schedule!of!the!invoices!within!the!exhibit.!

 
Witnesses 

! Steppan!expects!to!present!testimony!by!the!following!witnesses:!

Mark!B.!Steppan,!AIA!
7!Freelon!Street!

San!Francisco,!California!94107!

(415)!762P8388!

Rodney!Friedman,!FAIA!

333!Bryant!Street!

San!Francisco,!CA!94107!
(415)!435P3956!
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Brad!Van!Woert,!AIA!

1400!South!Virginia!Street!
Reno,!Nevada!89502!

(775)!328P1010!

John!Iliescu,!Jr.!(subpoena)!

100!North!Arlington!Avenue!

Reno,!Nevada!89501!
Phone!number!unknown!

Sonnia!Iliescu!(subpoena)!

100!North!Arlington!Avenue!
Reno,!Nevada!89501!

Phone!number!unknown!

Richard!Johnson!(subpoena)!

5255!Longley!Lane,!Suite!105!

Reno,!Nevada!89511!
(775)!823P8877!

David!Snelgrove!(subpoena)!

Land!Planomics!
4225!Great!Falls!Loop!

Reno,!Nevada!89511!
(775)!737P8910!

! Steppan!will!call!the!following!witnesses!if!the!need!arises:!

Maryann!Infantino!

First!Centennial!Title!Company!of!Nevada!
1450!Ridgeview!Drive,!Suite!100!

Reno,!Nevada!89519!

(775)!689P8510!

Susan!Fay!

7!Freelon!Street!

San!Francisco,!California!94107!
(415)!762P8388!

Gayle!A.!Kern!
5421!Kietzke!Lane,!Suite!200!

Reno,!Nevada!89511!

(775)!324P5930!

Stephen!C.!Mollath!

6560!SW!McCarran!Boulevard,!Suite!A!
Reno,!Nevada!89509!

(775)!786P3011!
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Karen!D.!Dennison!

5441!Kietzke!Lane,!Second!Floor!
Reno,!Nevada!89511!

(775)!327P3000!

Craig!Howard!

5441!Kietzke!Lane,!Second!Floor!

Reno,!Nevada!89511!
(775)!327P3000!

Eugenia!Kokunina!

661!Sierra!Rose!Drive!
Reno,!Nevada!89511!

(775)!954P2020!

William!G.!Kimmel!

1281!Terminal!Way,!Suite!205!

Reno,!Nevada!89502!
(775)!323P6400!

Lynette!R.!Jones!

One!East!First!Street,!Second!Floor!
Reno,!Nevada!89501!

(775)!334P2032!

 
 

Discovery Certification 
! Undersigned!counsel!certifies!that!all!discovery!has!been!completed.!

Settlement Certification 
! Undersigned!counsel!certifies!that,!prior!to!filing!this!trial!statement,!he!has!

personally!met!and!conferred!in!good!faith!to!resolve!the!case!by!settlement.!

Motions in Limine 
! None.!!(This!is!a!bench!trial.)!

JA1194



!

Trial!Statement!
Page 28 of 29!

1!

2!

3!

4!

5!

6!

7!

8!

9!

10!

11!

12!

13!

14!

15!

16!

17!

18!

19!

20!

21!

22!

23!

24!

25!

!

H
o
y
 |

 C
H

R
IS

S
IN

G
E
R

 |
 K

IM
M

E
L
 

Privacy Certification 
! Undersigned!counsel!certifies!that!this!trial!statement!does!not!contain!any!social!

security!numbers.!!!

! Dated!December!4,!2013.! HOY!CHRISSINGER!KIMMEL!

!
!

!

Michael!D.!Hoy!
Attorneys!for!Mark!B.!Steppan!

!

Certificate of Service 
!

! Pursuant!to!NRCP!5(b),!I!certify!that!I!am!an!employee!of!Hoy!Chrissinger!Kimmel,!

PC!and!that!on!December!4,!2013!I!electronically!filed!a!true!and!correct!copy!of!this!

Motion!for!Partial!Summary!Judgment!with!the!Clerk!of!the!Court!by!using!the!ECF!system,!

which!served!the!following!counsel!electronically:!!Gregory!Wilson,!Alice!Campos!Mercado,!

Thomas!Hall,!Stephen!Mollath,!David!Grundy.!!I!also!handPdelivered!a!true!and!correct!copy!

of!this!Motion!for!Partial!Summary!Judgment!to:!

C. Nicholas Pereos 
C. Nicholas Pereos, Ltd. 
1610 Meadow Wood Lane 
Reno, Nevada 89502 

! December!!4,!2013.! !
!

!

Michael!D.!Hoy!

!
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Index to Exhibits 
!

1! Proposed!form!of!Judgment,!Decree!and!Order!for!Foreclosure!of!Mechanics!Lien!
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Exhibit'1'

'

F I L E D
Electronically

12-04-2013:02:18:05 PM
Joey Orduna Hastings

Clerk of the Court
Transaction # 4174965
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Judgment,!Decree!and!Order!for!Foreclosure!of!Mechanics!Lien!
Page 1 of 3!
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!Document!Code:!!

!

!

!

!

!

!

In the Second Judicial District Court of the State of Nevada 
In and for the County of Washoe 

MARK!B.!STEPPAN,!

! ! Plaintiff,!

! v.!

JOHN!ILIESCU,!JR.;!SONNIA!SANTEE!ILIESCU;!JOHN!
ILIESCU,!JR.!and!SONNIA!SANTEE!ILIESCU,!as!
trustees!of!the!John!Iliescu,!Jr.!and!Sonnia!
Iliescu!1992!Family!Trust,!

! ! Defendants.!

Consolidated!Case!Nos.!CV07V00341!and!
CV07V01021!

!

Dept.!No.!10!!
!

!

And!Related!crossVclaims!and!thirdVparty!
claims.!

!

!

Judgment,*Decree*and*Order*for*Foreclosure*of*Mechanics*Lien*
*

! Based!upon!the!pleadings,!evidence,!Findings!of!Fact,!Conclusions!of!Law,!Decision,!

[and!postVtrial!orders!listed]!herein,!

! IT!HEREBY!IS!ORDERED,!ADJUDGED,!AND!DECREED:!

! 1.! Plaintiff!Mark!B.!Steppan!shall!take!judgment!on!the!Notice!and!Claim!of!Lien!

recorded!on!November!7,!2006!as!Document!3460499!in!the!official!records!of!the!Washoe!

County!Recorder,!as!amended!by!the!Amended!Notice!and!Claim!of!Lien!recorded!May!3,!

2007!as!Document!3528313,!and!as!further!amended!by!the!Second!Amended!Notice!and!
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!Claim!of!Lien!recorded!November!8,!2013!as!Document!4297751!for!the!following!

amounts:!

! A.! Principal!(NRS!108.222)!..............................................................................................!!

! B.! Prejudgment!Interest!(NRS!108.237(2)!................................................................!!

! C.! Attorney!fees!(NRS!108.237(1)!.................................................................................!!

! D.! Costs!(NRS!108.237(1)!.................................................................................................!!

! ! Total!......................................................................................................................................!!

! ! (the!“Lienable!Amount”)!

! 2.! Pursuant!to!NRS!108.239(10),!the!real!property!described!as!Assessor!Parcel!

Number!011V112V03,!011V112V06,!011V112V07,!and!011V112V12,!and!more!particularly!

described!in!Exhibit!A!hereto!(the!“Property”)!shall!be!sold!in!satisfaction!of!the!Plaintiff’s!

mechanics!lien!in!the!amounts!specified!herein.!!!

! 3.! Pursuant!to!NRS!108.239(10),!Plaintiff!Mark!B.!Steppan!shall!cause!the!

Property!to!be!sold!within!the!time!and!in!the!manner!provided!for!sales!on!execution!for!

the!sale!of!real!property.!

! 4.! The!costs!of!the!sale!shall!be!deducted!from!the!gross!proceeds,!and!the!

balance!shall!constitute!the!Net!Sale!Proceeds.!!!

! 5.! Pursuant!to!NRS!108.239(11),!if!the!Net!Sale!Proceeds!are!equal!to!or!exceed!

the!Lienable!Amount,!then!the!Lienable!Amount!shall!be!disbursed!to!Plaintiff!Mark!B.!

Steppan,!and!the!surplus!shall!be!disbursed!to!Defendants!John!Iliescu,!Jr.!and!Sonnia!

Iliescu!as!trustees!of!the!John!Iliescu!Jr.!and!Sonnia!Iliescu!Trust.!
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Judgment,!Decree!and!Order!for!Foreclosure!of!Mechanics!Lien!
Page 3 of 3!
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!! 6.! If!the!Net!Sale!Proceeds!are!less!than!the!Lienable!Amount,!then!all!of!the!Net!

Sale!Proceeds!shall!be!disbursed!to!Plaintiff!Mark!B.!Steppan.!!!Within!30!calendar!days!

after!the!sale,!Steppan!may!by!motion!seek!additional!relief!pursuant!to!NRS!108.239(12).!

!! Dated!December!___,!2013.! !

!

Hon.!Elliott!Sattler,!!
District!Judge!

!

!
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DOC # 3528313
APNs:011-ll2-03; 011-112-06; 05/03/2007 11:32:12 AM

011-112-07; 011-112-12
s

edE
Nashoe County Recorder
Kathryn L. Burke - Recorder

Recording Requested by: Fee: $18.00 RPTT: $0.00

Gayle A. Kern, Esq. Page 1 of 5

:2 e aL

.

Suite200

Reno, NV 89511

When Recorded Mail to:

Gayle A. Kern, Esq.

Gayle A. Kern, Ltd.

5421 Kietzke Lane, Suite200

Reno, NV 89511

AMENDED NOTICE AND CLAIM OF LIEN

theundersigned hereby affirmthattheattacheddocument, includingany exhibits,

hereby submitted forrecordingdoes not containthe socialsecuritynumber of any person or

persons. (PerNRS 239B.030)

OI theundersignedhereby affirmthattheattacheddocument, includingany exhibits,

hereby submitted forrecordingdoes containthe socialsecuritynumber of a person or persons

as required law: (statespecificlaw)

AIA. CSL NCARB

Signature Title

Mark Steppan

ThispageaddedtoprovideadditionalinformationrequiredbyNRS 111.312Sections1-2andNRS 239B.030,
Section4.

Thiscoverpagemustbetypedorprintedinblackink.
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When Recorded Mail To:

Gayle A. Kern, Esq.

Gayle A. Kern, Ltd.

5421 Kietzke Lane, Suite200

Reno, NV 89511

APNs: 011-112-03; 011-112-06; 011-112-07; 011-112-12

GRANTEE'S ADDRESS:

Mark B. Steppan,AIA, CSI, NCARB

1485 Park Avenue, #103

Emeryville,CA 94608

AMENDED NOTICE AND CLAIM OF LIEN

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Mark Steppan, AIA, CSI, NCARB claims a

Mechanic's and Materialman'sLien upon thepropertyhereinafterparticularlydescribed,which

propertyislocatedinWashoe County, Nevada, and which claim ismade pursuanttothelaws of

the Stateof Nevada, particularlyChapter 108 of theNevada Revised Statutes,as amended, for

thevalueofwork, labor,materialsand/orservicesfurnishedby lienclaimantfortheimprovement
of realpropertyhereinafterparticularlydescribed,locatedin the County of Washoe, Stateof

Nevada.

That the whole or realpropertyhereinafterparticularlydescribedhas been or isin the

processofimprovement and isreasonablynecessaryfortheconvenientuse and occupationofsaid

property.

Claimant furtherstates:

1. That thename of theowner or reputedowner of thepremises sought tobe charged is

as follows: 011-112-03; 011-112-07; 011-112-12 - JOHN LIESCU, JR., and SONNIA

LIESCU, as Trusteesof the JOHN LIESCU, JR.,AND SONNIA LIESCU 1992 FAMLY

TRUST AGREEMENT; and 011-112-06 -John Iliescu,a married man ashissoleand separate

property.

2. That thename of theperson by whom lienclaimantwas employed and towhom lien

claimantfurnishedwork, labor,materialsand/orservicesinconnectionwith theprojectis:BSC

Financial,LLC, c/o Consolidated PacificDevelopment, Inc.,932 Parker Street,Berkley,CA

94710; Job name: ResidentialProject,Reno, Nevada, Job Address: North Arlington Avenue,

IslandAvenue and Court Street;Owner's Designated Representative:Sam Caniglia.

Page1of 4
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3. That theterms,time given and conditionsof thecontractwere: Payments on account

of servicesrendered and for Reimbursable Expenses incurredshallbe made monthly upon

presentationoftheStatementofservicesforthebuilding,structureorotherwork ofimprovement
locatedatNorth ArlingtonAvenue, IslandAvenue and Court Street,Reno, Nevada. All services

were to be invoiced based on work performed as reflectedin applicationsfor payment, no

retainage tobe withheld from monthly progresspayments. All invoicesaredue in fifteendays.

4. That work, labor,materialsand/orserviceshave been furnishedto and actuallyused

upon theabove-describedprojectintheremaining amount ofONE MILION SIX-HUNDRED

THIRTY-NINE THOUSAND ONE-HUNDRED THIRTY AND NO/100 DOLLARS

($1,639,130.00),reimbursableexpenses of ONE-HUNDRED FIFTEEN THOUSAND THREE

HUNDRED SIXTY-TWO AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($115,362.00) plus interestthrough
October 31,2006 intheamount ofTWENTY-NINE THOUSAND FIFTY-SIX DOLLARS AND

85/100 ($29,056.85),for a totalprincipalbalance of ONE MILLION SEVEN-HUNDRED

EIGHTY-THREE THOUSAND FIVE-HUNDRED FORTY-EIGHT AND 85/100 DOLLARS

($1,783,548.85)continuinginterest,attorney'sfeesand costsand the amount isnow due and

owing to lienclaimant.

5. That thefirstlaborand materialsfurnishedby lienclaimanttoand incorporatedinthe

projectwas on or about April 21, 2006 and thatthe lastlaborand materialsfurnishedby lien

claimantand incorporatedintheprojectwas withinthepastninetydays;thatthereareno other

justcreditsor off-setstobe deducted and thetotalamount due and owing tolienclaimantas of

April 19,2007, isthesum of ONE MILLION NINE-HUNDRED THIRTY-NINE THOUSAND

THREE HUNDRED FORTY-SEVEN AND 51/100 DOLLARS ($1,939,347.51),pluscontinuing

interest,attorney'sfeesand costs.

6. That a demand forpayment has been made by lienclaimantand thatno partorportion
oftheamount due and owing has been paid;thatthereareno furtheroff-setstotheclaim and that

as of April 19, 2007, the sum of ONE MILION NINE-HUNDRED THIRTY-NINE

THOUSAND THREE HUNDRED FORTY-SEVEN AND 51/100 DOLLARS ($1,939,347.51),

plus continuinginterest,attorney'sfeesand costsisnow due and owing to lienclaimant on

account of thework, labor,materialsand/or servicesfurnishedas above specifiedand thatthe

undersigned claims alien upon the realproperty particularlydescribed herein for said sum,

togetherwith continuinginterestand attorney'sfeesas provided by law.

7. That the realpropertysought to be charged with thisClaim of Lien upon which the

above describedwork of improvement has been made islocatedinWashoe County of Stateof

Nevada, and isparticularlydescribedas:

Commencing ata pointformed by theintersectionof theEast lineof FlintStreet

(ifprotractedNortherly)with theNorth lineof Court Streetinthe Cityof Reno;

running thence Easterly,along theNorth lineof Court Street,a distanceof 100

feet,thence ata rightangleNortherly,a distanceof 140 feettothe truepointof

Page2 of 4
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beginning;saidtruepointof beginning being the Southeastcornerof the parcel
oflandheretoforeconveyed toAtha Carterby Antonieo Rebori and wife,by deed

dulyrecorded inBook 64 ofDeeds, Page 294, Washoe County Records: running
thenceEasterly,parallelwith theNorth lineof Court Street,a distanceof 50 feet

tothe Southwest cornerof thepropertyformerlyowned by H. F. Holmshaw and

wife thenceNortherlyata rightangle,alongthewest lineofthepropertyformerly
owned by saidH. F.Holmshaw and wife,totheSouth bank of theSouth channel

oftheTruckee River;thenceWesterly alongtheSouth bank ofsaidchannel ofthe

Truckee Rivertoapointwhich would intersecta linedrawn northerlyand parallel
with the East lineof saidpropertyfrom the saidtruepointof beginning;thence

southerlyalong saidlinetothetrucepointof beginning.
SAVE AND EXCEPTING, however, from theabove describedpremises,allthat

portionthereofconveyed by Antonio Rebori and CharlottaRebori,hiswife,tothe

City of Reno, a municipal corporation,by deed dated February 16, 1922, and

recorded inBook 59 of Deeds, Page 297, Washoe County, Records.

APN: 011-112-03

Commencing atthepoint 129.6 feetWest of where the centerlineof HillStreet

projectedNortherlywillintersectthe North lineof Court Streetthence running

Westerly along theNorth lineof Court Street,75 feet;thence running Northerly
atan angle of 89058' 140 feet;thence running Easterlyatan angle of 90005" 75

feet;thence running Southerly at an angle 80055', 140 feetto the place of

beginning,comprising a parcelof land 75 by 140 feet.

APN: 011-112-06

BEGINNING attheintersectionof theNortherlyextensionoftheEasternlineof

FlintStreetwith theNorthern lineof Court Street,intheCityof Reno, County of

Washoe, StateofNevada, thenceEasterlyalongtheNorthern lineofCourt Street,

125 feet,more or lesstotheWestern lineoftheparcelconveyed toWALKER J.

BOUDWIN, et ux, by Deed recorded in Book 143, File No. 100219, Deed

Records; thence Northerly along said lastmentioned line 140 feet;thence

Westerly paralleltotheNorthern lineof Court Street,125 feet;thence Southerly

parallelto the Western lineof Said Boudwin parcel 140 feetto the point of

beginning.

APN: 011-112-07

Commencing on theNorth lineof Court Street,atthe intersectionof theNorth

lineof Court Streetwith the West lineof Hill Street,ifsaid Hill Streetwas

protractedNortherlytosaidpointofinter-sectionaccordingtotheofficialplatof

Lake's South AdditiontoReno, Washoe County, StateofNevada; thencerunning

westerlyand along theNorth lineof saidCourt Street100 feet;thenceNortherly
and parallelwith theWest lineof saidHillStreet,ifprotracted,276 feetmore of

lesstothe South Bank of theTruckee River;thenceEasterlyand along thesouth

Page3 of 4
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bank of the Truckee River to the West lineof HillStreet,protracted,324 feet

more orlesstotheNorth lineofCourt Streetand theplaceofbeginning,being the

same landsconveyed by Antonio Robori and CarlottaRobori,hiswife,toCharles

Snyder, May 27, 1907, and by Antonio Robori to Charles Snyder, January 12,

1905, by deeds duly recorded in Book 32 of Deeds, page 405, and book 26 of

deeds,page 296, Records of saidWashoe County.

EXCEPTING THEREFROM thatportionof the hereinabove describedparcel

conveyed totheCityof Reno, a municipalcorporation,inan instrumentrecorded

August 4, 1922, as Document No. 26097, inBook 61,Page 280, of Deeds.

FURTHER EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion of the hereinabove

describedparcelconveyed to the City of Reno, a municipal corporation,in an

instrumentrecordedDecember 17,1971,asDocument No. 229332, inBook 600,

Page 759 of OfficialRecords.

APN: 011-112-12

8. That thefourparcelsaretobe developed astheprojectand itisappropriatetoequally

apportionthe amount due between thefourparcelsidentifiedherein.

DATED: This day of May, 2007.

By

14ark Steppan,AIA, CSI, N

STATE OF NEVADA )

) ss.

COUNTY OF WASHOE )

Thisinstrumentwas acknowledged beforeme on May & 07 by Mark Steppan,AIA,

CSI, NCARB.

*MMAMWagmmbustNummmagemsmNamem
AMBER A.GARRELL

NatalyPubilo-StateofNevada! ROTARY PUBLI
AppolnimenIRecordedhWashoeCountyI
No:05491464!-Exphas.Iunatt,alOB|
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DOC # 4297751
11/08/2013 11:26:26 AM
Requested By

When recorded, mail to: MIcHAEL D HOY
Washoe County Recorder
Laurance R. Buriness - Recorder

Michael D. Hoy Fee: $50.00 RPTT: SO.@@

Hoy Chrissinger Kimmel, PC Page 1 of 9

5RO

West Liber Street,Suite840

(775) 786-8000

APN:

011-112-03

011-112-06

011-112-07

011-112-12

Second Amended Notice and Claim of Lien

Pursuant to NRS 108.229(1), Mark B.Steppan hereby amends the Notice and

Claim of Lien recorded November 7,2006 as Document 3460499 in the Official

Records ofthe Washoe County Recorder and the Amended Notice and Claim of Lien

recorded May 3,2007 as Document 3528313 in the OfficialRecords of the Washoe

County Recorder.

NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN that Mark B. Steppan ("LienClaimant") claims a

lienupon the property described in thisnotice forwork, materials or equipment
furnished or to be furnished forthe improvement of the property, as follows:

1. The amount of the originalcontracts: Lien Claimant entered into

several differentcontractsto provide servicesas an architectin relationto the

improvement, property or work of improvement described below. NRS

108.2214(1).

A. Des' eement. EffectiveOctober 31, 2005, Lien Claimant

entered intoa Standard form ofAgreement Between Owner and Architectbased

upon the AIA Document 8141 - 1997 Part 1 and Part2 ("Design Agreement"). On

April 21, 2006, the Owner and Lien Claimant executed Addendum No. 1 Contractual

Changes to AIA 8141 Standard Agreement between Owner and Architect.

Partiesto the Design Agreement agreed upon the material terms in October, 2005.

While the formal Design Agreement was under legalreview, the Owner directed the

Lien Claimant to commence work. This work was billedon an hourly basis pursuant
to a letteragreement dated November 5,2005. After the Design Agreement was

formalized,Lien Claimant changed the billingto reflectthe fixed-feein the Design

Contract,and gave creditforpayments previously received under the November 5,

2005 letteragreement.

Second Amended Notice and Claim of Lien

Page 1 of 9
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The Design Agreement provides fora fixedfee computed by multiplying the

anticipatedconstruction cost ($180 million)by 5.75 percent,fora totalfee of

$10,350,000. The Design Agreement allocatesthisfeeamong various phases ofthe

work covered by the Design Agreement. The Design Agreement allocates20 percent
ofthe overallfeeto the Schematic Design phase. Lien Claimant completed the

Schematic Design phase as defined inthe Design Agreement. The Design

Agreement also provides that any unpaid contract balance bears simple interestat

the rate ofone and one-half percent per month (or 18 percent per annum).

B. Reimbursable Items. Under the Desi n reement, Lien

Claimant was entitledto receive 115 percent ofthe Lien Claimant'sactual cost for

defined Reimbursable Expenses including fees paid to certainsub-consultants,

including a landscape architect.Lien Claimant billeda totalof $35,585.27 forthese

Reimburseable Expenses.

C. Adjacent Church Parking Studies. In relationto the property,
on or about June 14, 2006, Lien Claimant entered into a separate letteragreement
with BSC Financial,LLC to provide design servicesfor a parking layout

configurationsand parking structure.

D. Ci Staffcomment studies, in relationto the ro er Lien

Claimant entered intoa separate agreement with BSC Financial,LLC to provide

design recommendations to respond to inquiriesfrom the Cityof Reno staff

regarding applicationsby BSC Financial,LLC and itsaffiliates,and the Property
Owner. For thiswork, Lien Claimant was entitledto be paid hourly ratesagreed
between the parties.The work performed under thisagreement was billedat

$36,555.

E. Projectfly-through.In relationto the property, Lien Claimant

entered intoa separate agreement with BSC Financial,LLC to create a computerized,
three-dimensional model of downtown Reno with the proposed improvements, and

to create and edita video fly-throughof downtown Reno with the improvements

designed forthe property. For thiswork, Lien Claimant was entitledto be paid

hourly ratesagreed between the parties.The work performed under this

agreement was billedat $66,620.

F. Other agreements. Lien Claimant entered intoseparate

agreements with BSC Financial,LLC in relationto the property. In order to simplify
thisNotice of Lien and the litigationto foreclosethe lien,Lien Claimant does not

claim that the amounts due under those other contractsare secured by thislien.

[continues)
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2. Payments. The totalamount of allpayments received to date isbelow

listedseparately under each agreement:

A. Design Agreement. The payments received are as follows:

02/16/2006 $254,990.00

03/21/2006 8,230.00

05/16/2006 15,490.00

06/16/2006 102,160.00

09/16/2006 50,000.00

Total $430,870.00

B. Reimbursable items. The payments received are as follows:

02/16/2006 $11,460.65

04/18/2006 3,224.87

05/16/2006 101.12

06/21/2006 16,264.87

07/12/2006 1,557.53

Total 32,609.04

C. Adjacent Church Parking Studies. The payments received are

as follows:

07/12/2006 3,255.00

D. CityStaffcomment studies.Lien Claimant has received no

payments forthiswork.

E. Projectfly-through.Lien Claimant has received no payments
forthiswork.

Total ofallpayments received on contractsthat Lien Claimant asserts

are secured by thislien:

$466,7 34.04
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3. Amount oflienableamount afterdeducting alljustcreditsand offsets,

isas follows:

Desi nA eement

Fee earned $2,070,000.00

Payments: 430,870.00

Principaldue: $1,639,130.00

Reimburseable Expenses

Amount earned: $37,411.53

Payments: 32,609.04

Principaldue: 4,802.49

Adjacent Church Parking Studies

Fee earned: $11,377.50

Payments: 3,255.00

Principaldue: 8,122.50

CityStaffcomment studies.

Fee earned: $36,555.00

Payments: 0.00

Principaldue: 36,555.00

Projectfly-through.
Fee earned: $66,620.00

Payments: 0.00

Principaldue: 66,620.00

Total principalclaimed: $1,755,229.99

4. Interest.Pursuant to NRS 108.237(1) and (2),Lien Claimant claims

interest.With respect to the principalamounts due forfeesand reimburseable

expenses under the Primary Design Contract,interestiscomputed as simple
interestatthe rate of one and one-half percent per month. Intereston amounts due

under other agreements shallbe the legalrate of interestat the time judgment is

entered.

5. Ownership. For assessor'sparcel numbers 011-112-03, 011-112-07,

011-112-12, the owner ofrecord isJohn Iliescu,Jr.and Sonnia Iliescu,as trusteesof

the IliescuFamily Trust. For assessor'sparcel number 011-112-06, the owner of

record isJohn Iliescu,a married man as hissole and separate property.

6. Name of erson by whom Lien Claimant was em loved. Lien Claimant

was employed by and supplied services,work, labor and materials to BSC Financial,
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LLC c/o Consolidated PacificDevelopment, Inc.,932 Parker Street,Berkley,
California94710.

7-A. Terms ofpayment
-
Design Agreement (0515). The Primary

ArchitecturalDesign ServicesAgreement provides in relevant part: "Payments on

account of servicesrendered and for Reimburseable Expenses incurred shallbe

made monthly upon presentation ofArchitect'sstatement of services."Lien

Claimant billedforfeesin the following invoices:

Invoice Date Amount

22258 11/22/2005 $39,190.00 [paid)
22282 12/20/2005 $72,700.00 (paid)
22299 01/12/2006 $91,035.00 (paid)
22300 01/13/2006 $52,065.00 (paid]
22384 05/18/2006 $100,405.00

22408 07/19/2006 $100,395.00

22430 08/23/2006 $324,171.00

22452 09/21/2006 $342,171.00

22468 10/25/2006 $342,171.00

22481 11/21/2006 $461,817.00

SchematicDesign $2,070,000.00

Less: Prior progress billings 1,926,120.00

Finalprogress billing $143,880.00

7-B. Terms ofpayment
- Reimburseables (0515-R). Payment terms for

reimburseables are included in the primary architecturaldesign agreement. Lien

Claimant billedforreimburseables inthe following invoices:

Invoice Date Amount

22259 11/22/2005 $257.38

22283 12/20/2005 811.13

22301 01/18/2006 9,036.64

22316 02/23/2006 5,718.37

22332 05/16/2006 87.93

22368 05/18/2006 382.21

22400 06/22/2006 1,354.37

22353 04/19/2006 13,761.16

22412 07/19/2006 869.08

22432 08/23/2006 523.70

22454 09/21/2006 943.87

22484 11/21/2006 1,153.00

22499 12/22/2006 553.81

22518 02/28/2007 132.62
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Total: $35,585.27

7-C. Terms ofpayment
-
Adjacent Church Parking Studies (0515-03). The

letteragreement foradjacent church parking studies provides in relevant part:

Fees and reimburseable invoiced amounts shallbe billedon a monthly
basis.Allinvoiced amounts not in dispute are due and payable within

30 (thirty)days from the date of the invoice.

Lien Claimant billedforwork performed under thisletteragreement as follows:

Invoice Date Amount

22386 06/20/2006 $3,255.00 (paid)
22410 07/19/2006 6,730.00

22467 09/21/2006 1,392.50

Total: 11,377.50

7-D. Terms of Payment
-City StaffComments (0515-05). The letter

agreement to respond to CityofReno staffcomments provides in relevant part:

Fees and reimburseable invoiced amounts shallbe billedon a monthly
basis.Allinvoiced amounts not in dispute are due and payable within

30 (thirty)days from the date of the invoice.

Lien Claimant billedforwork performed under thisletteragreement as follows:

Invoice Date Amount

22431 08/23/2006 22,100.00

22453 09/21/2006 10,675.00

22469 10/25/2006 1,800,00

22482 11/21/2006 1,980.00

Total: 36,555.00
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7-E. Terms of Payment -
ProjectFly-through (0515-05). (Note: Ihave not

located the contract for thisbillingproject.)

Lien Claimant billedforwork performed under thisletteragreement as follows:

Invoice Date Amount

22498 11/21/2006 66,620.00

8. Property encumbered by lien.A descriptionofthe property to be

charged with the lienfollows:

Parcel 1.

Commencing at a point formed by the intersectionofthe East lineof FlintStreet(if

protracted Northerly) with the North lineof Court Streetinthe Cityof Reno;

running thence Easterly,along the North lineof Court Street,a distance of 100 feet,
thence at a rightangle Northerly,a distance of 140 feetto the true point of

beginning; said true point ofbeginning being the Southeast corner ofthe parcel of

land heretofore conveyed toAtha Carter by Antonieo Rebori and wife,by deed duly
recorded in Book 64 ofDeeds, Page 294, Washoe County Records: running thence

Easterly,parallelwith the North lineof Court Street,a distance of 50 feetto the

Southwest corner ofthe property formerly owned by H.F.Holmshaw and wife

thence Northerly at a rightangle,along the west lineofthe property formerly
owned by said H.F.Holmshaw and wife,to the South bank ofthe South channel of

the Truckee River;thence Westerly along the South bank of said channel ofthe

Truckee River to a point which would intersecta linedrawn northerly and parallel
with the East lineof said property from the said true point of beginning; thence

southerly along said lineto the truce point ofbeginning.

SAVE AND EXCEPTING, however, from the above described premises, allthat

portion thereof conveyed by Antonio Rebori and Charlotta Rebori, hiswife,to the

Cityof Reno, a municipal corporation,by deed dated February 16, 1922, and

recorded in Book 59 of Deeds, Page 297, Washoe County, Records.

APN: 011-112-03

Parcel 2.

Commencing at the point 129.6 feetWest ofwhere the center lineof HillStreet

projected Northerly willintersectthe North lineof Court Streetthence running

Westerly along the North lineof Court Street,75 feet;thence running Northerly at

an angle of 89058' 140 feet;thence running Easterlyatan angle of90005" 75 feet;
thence running Southerly at an angle 80055', 140 feetto the place of beginning,

comprising a parcel of land 75 by 140 feet.

APN: 011-112-06
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Parcel 3.

BEGINNING at the intersectionofthe Northerly extension ofthe Eastern lineof Flint
Streetwith the Northern lineof Court Street,in the Cityof Reno, County ofWashoe,
Stateof Nevada, thence Easterlyalong the Northern lineof Court Street,125 feet,
more or lessto the Western lineofthe parcel conveyed to WALKER J.BOUDWIN, et

ux,by Deed recorded in Book 143, FileNo. 100219, Deed Records; thence Northerly
along said lastmentioned line140 feet;thence Westerly parallelto the Northern
lineof Court Street,125 feet;thence Southerly parallelto the Western lineof Said

Boudwin parcel 140 feetto the point ofbeginning.

APN: 011-112-07

Parcel 4.

Commencing on the North lineof Court Street,atthe intersectionof the North lineof
Court Streetwith the West lineof HillStreet,ifsaid HillStreetwas protracted

Northerly to said point of inter-sectionaccording to the officialplatof Lake's South

Addition to Reno, Washoe County, Stateof Nevada; thence running westerly and

along the North lineof said Court Street100 feet;thence Northerly and parallelwith
the West lineof said HillStreet,ifprotracted,276 feetmore of lessto the South Bank
ofthe Truckee River;thence Easterlyand along the south bank of the Truckee River
to the West lineofHillStreet,protracted,324 feetmore or lessto the North lineof

Court Streetand the place ofbeginning, being the same lands conveyed by Antonio

Robori and CarlottaRobori, his wife,to Charles Snyder, May 27, 1907, and by
Antonio Robori to Charles Snyder, January 12, 1905, by deeds duly recorded in Book
32 of Deeds, page 405, and book 26 of deeds, page 296, Records ofsaid Washoe

County.

EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion ofthe hereinabove described parcel

conveyed to the Cityof Reno, a municipal corporation,inan instrument recorded

August 4, 1922, as Document No. 26097, in Book 61, Page 280, of Deeds.

FURTHER EXCEPTING THEREFROM that portion of the hereinabove described

parcel conveyed to the Cityof Reno, a municipal corporation,in an instrument

recorded December 17, 1971, as Document No. 229332, in Book 600, Page 759 of

OfficialRecords.

APN: 011-112-12

(Continues)
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Dated November 8,2013.

Michael D. Hoy, Esq.
Counsel to Mark B.Steppan

Verification

Stateof Nevada )

] ss

County ofWashoe ]

Michael D. Hoy, being firstduly sworn on oath according to law, deposes and

says: I have read the foregoing Second Amended Notice and Claim of Lien, know

the contents thereof and statethatthe same istrue based upon review of contracts,

deeds, invoices,and other relevant documents produced in Consolidated Case

Nos. CVO7-00341 and CVO7-01021pending in the Second JudicialDistrictCourt

of the State of Nevada, Washoe County.

Michael D. Hoy

Subscribed and sworn to before me,

thisNinth day of November, 2013.

Notary Public in and forthe above

referenced county and state

ShondelF.Seth

NotaryPublic

5 StateofNevada

Appt.No:03-83385-2

My Comm.Exp.0&08-2017
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